
ORIGINAL

kwiktag ~ 078 541 471

State Bar Court of California
Hearing Department

Los Angeles
ALTERNATIVE DISCIPLINE PROGR

IIDS ANGELES

Charles A. Murray

Deputy Trial Counsel

1149 S. Hill Street
Los Angeles, CA 90015-2299

Bar# 146069
In Pro Per Respondent

David M: Van Sickle
1150.0 W. Olympic Blvd., Suite 400

Los Angeles, CA 90064

(818) 302-5761

Bar # 167401
In the Matter Of:
DAVID M. VAN SICKLE

Bar # 167401

A Member of the State Bar of California
(ResDondent)

Case Number (s)
08-J-10456 and

09-0-11418

Submitted to: Program Judge

(for Court’s use)

APR 0 201g

b~ATE BAR COUR~’
CLERK’S OFFICE

LOS Ah;GELES

STIPULATION RE FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
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Note: All information required by this form and any additional information which cannot be
provided in the space provided, must be set forth in an attachment to this stipulation under specific
headings, e.g., "Facts," "Dismissals," "Conclusions of Law," "Supporting Authority," etc.

A. Parties’ Acknowledgments:

(1) Respondent is a member of the State Bar of California, admitted December 13, 1993.

(2) The parties agree to be bound by the factual stipulations contained herein even if conclusions of law or
disposition (to be attached separately) are rejected or changed by the Supreme Court. However, except as
otherwise provided in rule 864.5(c) of the Rules of Procedure, if Respondent is not accepted into the Alternative
Discipline Program, this stipulation will be rejected and will not be binding on the Respondent or the State Bar.

(3) All investigations or proceedings listed by case number in the caption of this stipulation are entirely resolved by
this stipulation and are deemed consolidated, except for Probation Revocation proceedings. Dismissed
charge(s)/count(s) are listed under "Dismissals." The stipulation consists of [ 3 pages, excluding the order.

(4) A statement of acts or omissions acknowledged 6y Respondent as cause or causes for discipline is included
under "Facts."

(5) Conclusions of law, drawn from and specifically referring to the facts are also included under "Conclusions of
Law".

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 9/18/2002. Rev. 12/1/2008) Program
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(6)

(7)

No more than 30 daYS prior to the filing of this stipulation, Respondent has been advised in writing of any
pending investigation/proceeding not resolved by this stipulation, except for criminal investigations.

Payment of Disciplinary Costs--Respondent acknowledges the provisions of Bus. & Prof. Code §§6086.10 &
6140.7 and will pay timely any disciplinary costs imposed in this proceeding.

B. Aggravating Circumstances [for definition, see Standards for Attorney Sanctions for
Professional Misconduct, standard 1.2(b)]. Facts supporting aggravating circumstances
are required.

(1) []

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Prior record of discipline [see standard 1.2(f)]

[] State Bar Court case # of prior case

[] Date prior discipline effective

[] Rules of Professional Conduct/State Bar Act violations:

[] Degree of prior discipline

[] If Respondent has two or more incidents of prior discipline, use space provided below:

(2) [] Dishonesty: Respondent’s misconduct was surrounded by or followed by bad faith, dishonesty,
concealment, overreaching or other violations of the State Bar Act or Rules of Professional Conduct.

(3) [] Trust Violation: Trust funds or property were involved and Respondent refused or was unable to account
to the client or person who was the object of the misconduct for improper conduct toward said funds or
property.

(4) J~ Harm: Respondent’s misconduct harmed Significantly a client, the public or the administration of justice.

(5) [] Indifference: Respondent demonstrated indifference toward rectification of or atonement for the
consequences of his or her misconduct.

(6) [] Lack of Cooperation: Respondent displayed a lack of candor and cooperation to victims of his/her
misconduct or to the State Bar during disciplinary investigation or proceedings.

(7) [] Multiple/Pattern of Misconduct: Respondent’s current misconduct evidences multiple acts of wrongdoing
or demonstrates a pattern of misconduct.    ~E,~ ~r.,~ i ~

(8) [] No aggravating circumstances are involved.

Additional aggravating circumstances:

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 9/18/2002. Rev= 12/1/2008.)
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C. Mitigating Circumstances [see standard 1.2(e)]. Facts supporting mitigating
circumstances are required.

(1) No Prior Discipline: Respondent has no prior record of discipline over many years of practice coupled
with present misconduct which is not deemed serious.

(2) []

(3) ~

(4) []

No Harm: Respondent did not harm the client or person who was the object of the misconduct.

Candor/Cooperation: Respondent displayed spontaneous candor and cooperation " ’ "
h~ih~r mi_~-~:~t~ct,-a~ to the State Bar during disciplinary 4m,~e~4~-~ proceedings. ,.~’~’~e 1/.
Remorse: Respondent promptly took objective steps spontaneously demonstrating remorse and
recognition of the wrongdoing, which steps were designed to timely atone for any consequences of his/her
misconduct.

(5) [] Restitution: Respondent paid $      on      in restitution to
disciplinary, civil or criminal proceedings.

without the threat or force of

(6) [] Delay: These disciplinary proceedings were excessively delayed. The delay is not attributable to
Respondent and the delay prejudiced him/her.

(7) []

(8) N

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

Good Faith: Respondent acted in good faith.

Emotional/Physical Difficulties: At t,,~c t!me of the ct!pulctcd 3ct crccts of 15i-OfesS;u,,,~i

R .... ~ -1""-’~" cxtrcmc ~’:---’ d~’~;~’ ,IH~    ~h,,-:-~’ ~ .......................

~p,=i~ ~, ,~ b), m~ m~a ...... " ~" iltC;c~ drug or ""a’* .....~ .... and ~es~ondant

Severe Financial Stress: At t~ timc ~*"~ ~H, ,~* ~ccpo~do~t
b~y ~ ..... 9~kl~ ~" which ...... ~ ................

which ’.t’gre d!rec%, responsible for the m~gcoRd’Jc2 ~ p~£~ /[~ /~.

Family Problems: ~e~� ....... ; ....4,,~{ D=¢ ~n~nf ql~ff~r~H =vf .... 4;f~;~,,l~:,C

Good Character: Respondent’s good character is attested to by a wide range of references in the legal
and general communities who are aware of the full extent of his/her misconduct. ~

Rehabilitation: Considerable time has passed since the acts of professional misconduct occurred
followed by convincing proof of subsequent rehabilitation.

(13) [] No mitigating circumstances are involved.

Additional mitigating circumstances:

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 9/18/2002. Rev. 12/1/2008) Program
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Respondent admits that the following facts are true and that he is culpable of violations of the specified
Rules of Professional Conduct and provisions of the State Bar Act:

Case No. 08-J-10456

A. Facts:

1. On December 20, 2007, the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility for the State of Minnesota
("OLPR") and Respondent entered into a stipulation for the imposition of discipline against Respondent for
ethical violations occurring in Minnesota and California while Respondent was admitted to practice law in
those states (the "stipulation"). A certified copy of the stipulation is attached as Exhibit 1 and incorporated
by reference.1

2. In the stipulation, Respondent agreed that OLPR could file a Petition for Disciplinary Action against
Respondent regarding the violations in the Minnesota Supreme Court, identified as case number A07-2418
(the "petition"). Also in the stipulation, Respondent waived his right to answer the petition and
unconditionally admitted the allegations of the petition. A certified copy of the petition filed in the
Minnesota Supreme Court on December 27, 2007 is attached as Exhibit 2 and incorporated by reference.
The facts regarding Respondent’s violations are fully set forth in Exhibit 2 and are not restated here, but
Respondent admitted in the stipulation that his conduct in Minnesota violated the Minnesota Rules of
Professional Conduct (the "MRPC"), as follows:

a. Respondent filed lawsuits on behalf of his clients, the Willhites, that as
found by the courts lacked a good faith basis in law or fact in violation of
Rules 1.1, 3.1 and 8.4(d) of the Minnesota Rules of Professional Conduct (the
"MRPC");2

b. Respondent failed to timely disburse to his client, Debra Garthe
("Garthe"), settlement funds that indisputably belonged to Garthe in violation
of rule 1.15(b) of the MRPC, as that Rule read prior to October 1, 2005;3

c. Respondent commingled client and personal funds in his trust accounts in
violation of Rules 1.15 (a) and (b) of the MPRC;4

X Respondent’s California violations were the subject of a prior discipline proceeding against
Respondent, State Bar Court case number 99-0-12923, and resulted in the imposition of discipline
against him in California.

2See First Count, Ex. 2, ¶¶ 1 - 28.

3See Second Count, Ex. 2, ¶¶ 29 - 42.

4See Third Count, Ex. 2, ¶¶ 43 - 47, and 88.

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10/16100. Revised 12/16/2004.)
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d. Respondent negligently misappropriated client funds from his trust
account to pay his personal expenses and negligently misappropriated funds
entrusted to him on behalf of his clients in violation of Rules 1.15 (a), (b) and
(c) of the MRPC;5

e. Respondent failed to keep required trust account books and records in
violation of Rule 1.15(h) of the MRPC, as interpreted by Lawyers
Professional Responsibility Board Opinion No. 9 and Appendix 1 to the
MR_PC Maintenance of Books and Records; 6

f. Respondent repeatedly issued checks drawn on his trust account when
there were insufficient funds in the account to support the checks in violation
of Rule 8.4(c) of the MRPC;7 and

g. Respondent improperly certified to the Minnesota Supreme Court that he
maintained the required trust account books and records in violation of Rule
8.4(c) of the MRPC.8

3. True and correct copies of the MRPC, Rule 1.1 (Competence); Rule 1.15 (Safekeeping Property); Rule
1.15 (Safekeeping Property, as it read prior to October 1, 2005); the Lawyers Professional Responsibility
Board Opinion No. 9; Appendix 1 to the MRPC Maintenance of Books and Records; Rule 3.1 (Meritorious
Claims and Contentions); Rule 8.4(c) (Engaging in Conduct Involving Dishonesty, Fraud, Deceit or
Misrepresentation); and Rule 8.4(d) (Engaging in Conduct Prejudicial to the Administration of Justice) are
collectively attached as Exhibit 3 and incorporated by reference.

4. In the stipulation, Respondent and OLPR jointly recommended that Respondent be suspended from the
practice of law in Minnesota for four months and that respondent may petition for reinstatement subject to
the conditions that he (a) pay $900 in costs pursuant to Rule 24(d) of the Rules on Lawyers Professional
Responsibility ("RLPR"); (b) comply with Rule 26 of the RLPR; (c) provide proof of successful
completion of the professional responsibility examination within one year prior to the petition for
reinstatement; (d) satisfy continuing legal education requirements pursuant to Rule 18(e) of the RLPR; and
(e) pay or enter into an agreement for a payment plan to pay the attorneys’ fees assessed against him by the
federal district court in the matter of Willhite v. Collins, case number 04-CV-4380.

5. On January 17, 2008, the Minnesota Supreme Court, in case number A07-2418, approved the
stipulation and the jointly recommended disposition.

5See Third Count, Ex. 2, ¶7 48 - 74, and 88.

6See Third Count, Ex. 2, 77 79 - 88.

7See Third Count, Ex. 2, 7¶ 71 - 74, and 88.

SSee Third Count, Ex. 2, 77 79 - 88.

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10116100. Revised 12116/2004.)
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6. On January 18, 2008, the Minnesota Supreme Court filed its order in case number A07-2418. In the
order, Respondent was suspended for a minimum of four months, effective 14 days from the date of the
filing of the order; and was ordered to pay $900 in costs pursuant to Rule 24 of the RLPR and to comply
with Rule 26 of the RLPR (requiring notice of suspension to clients, opposing counsel, and tribunals). The
Minnesota Supreme Court further ordered that Respondent may petition for reinstatement after 60 days
from the effective date of his suspension, provided that he filed with the petition for reinstatement proof of:
(a) successful completion of the professional responsibility portion of the state bar examination within one
year prior to the date of the petition for reinstatement; (b) satisfaction of continuing legal education
requirements pursuant to Rule 18(e) of the RLPR; and (c) proof of payment of attorney fees assessed
against Respondent by the federal district court in the matter of Willhite v. Collins, case number 04-CV-
4830 (D. Minn. 2005), or proof that Respondent had entered into and was in compliance with a payment
plan for payment of such attorney fees. Thereafter, the decision of the foreign jurisdiction became final.
A certified copy of the order is attached as Exhibit 4 and incorporated by reference.

B. Conclusions of Law:

1. Pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 6049.1 (a), the factual findings and the final
disciplinary order of the Minnesota Supreme Court constitute conclusive evidence that Respondent is
culpable of professional misconduct in this state.

2. Respondent’s culpability as determined by the Minnesota Supreme Court indicates that the following
California statutes or rules were violated:

ao By filing lawsuits on behalf of his clients, the Willhites, as found by the
courts lacked a good faith basis in law or fact in violation of Rule 1.1 of
the MRPC, Respondent also failed to perform legal services with competence
in wilful violation of rule 3-110(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct;

bo By failing to timely disburse to his client, Debra Garthe ("Garthe"), settlement
funds that indisputably belonged to Garthe in violation of rule 1.15(b) of the
MRPC, as that Rule read prior to October 1, 2005, Respondent also failed to
promptly pay or deliver, as requested by the client, any funds in the
possession of the member which the client was entitled to receive, in wilful
violation of rule 4-100(B)(4) of the Rules of Professional Conduct;

By commingling client and personal funds in his trust accounts in violation of
Rules 1.15 (a) and (b) of the MRPC, Respondent also deposited or
commingled funds belonging to Respondent in a bank account labeled "Trust
Account," "Client’s Funds Account" or words of similar import, in wilful
violation of rule 4-100(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct;

d° By negligently misappropriating client funds from his trust account to pay his
personal expenses and negligently misappropriating funds entrusted to him on
behalf of his clients in violation of Rules 1.15 (a), (b) and (c) of the MRPC,
Respondent also failed to maintain the balance of funds received for the
benefit of a client and deposited in a bank account labeled "Trust Account,"

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10116/00. Revised 12/16/2004.)
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"Client’s Funds Account" or words of similar import, in wilful violation of
rule 4-100(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct;

eo By failing to keep required trust account books and records in violation of
Rule 1.15(h) of the MRPC, as interpreted by Lawyers Professional
Responsibility Board Opinion No. 9 and Appendix 1 to the MRPC
Maintenance of Books and Records, Respondent also failed to maintain, and
to preserve for five years from final appropriate disposition, complete records
of all client funds coming into Respondent’s possession, in wilful violation of
rule 4-100(B)(3) of the Rules of Professional Conduct;

f. By repeatedly issuing checks drawn on his trust account when there were
insufficient funds in the account to support the checks in violation of Rule
8.4(c) of the MRPC, Respondent al.so committed acts involving moral
turpitude in wilful violation of section 6106 of the Business and Professions
Code; and,

By improperly certifying to the Minnesota Supreme Court that he maintained
the required trust account books and records in violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the
MRPC, Respondent also sought to mislead a judge or judicial officer by an
artifice or false statement of fact jn wilful violation of section 6068(d) and
committed an act of moral turpitude in wilful violation of section 6106 of the
Business and Professions Code.

C. Agreements and Waivers Pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 6049.1:

1. Respondent acknowledges that his culpability determined in the disciplinary proceeding in
the Minnesota Supreme Court, case number A07-2418, warrants the imposition of discipline in
the State of California under the laws or rules stated above in effect in the State of California at
the time Respondent’s misconduct was committed; and

2. Respondent acknowledges that the disciplinary proceeding in Minnesota provided
Respondent with fundamental constitutional protection.
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///
///

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10116/00. Revised 12116/2004.)
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Case no. 09-0-11418
D.    Facts

1. On August 24, 2006, the State Bar Court Review Department issued a decision in case number
99-0-12923 regarding Respondent. On August 24, 2006, the State Bar Court served a copy of the decision
on Respondent by mail. Respondent received the copy of the decision.

2. On January 24, 2007, the Califomia Supreme Court filed its Order number S147609 regarding
case number 99-0-12923. The Court ordered that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for
two years, that execution of the suspension be stayed, and that Respondent be placed on probation for two
years with conditions, including the condition that he be actually suspended for three months (the "Order").
The Order was effective February 23, 2007. On January 24, .2007, the California Supreme Court clerk
served a copy of the order on Respondent by mail. Respondent received a copy of the Order.

3. As a condition of probation, the Supreme Court ordered Respondent to do the following:

During the period of probation, make restitution to Ivy Hei ("Hei") in the amount
of $5,910.45, plus simple interest thereon at the rate of 10 percent per annum
from the date of Respondent’s receipt of attorney fees in the Hei v. Beasla suit
(January 15,1995) until paid (or to the Client Security Fund ("CSF") to the extent
of any payment from the fund to Hei, plus interest and costs, in accordance with
Business and Professions Code section 6140.5), and furnish satisfactory proof of
such restitution to the State Bar of California’s Office of Probation ("Probation");
and,

During the period of probation, make restitution to the United States Department
of Labor (USDOL) in the amount of $2,214.54, plus simple interest thereon at
the rate of 10 percent per annum from the date of respondent’s receipt of
payment from the USDOL of attorney fees arising from Hei’s workers’
compensation matter until paid (or to CSF to the extent of any payment from the
fund to USDOL, plus interest and costs, in accordance with Business and
Professions Code section 6140.5), and furnish satisfactory proof of such
restitution to Probation.

4. The Court further ordered that Probation, within the first 90 days after the effective date of the
Order, determine the date Respondent received payment from the USDOL; and ordered that Respondent
fully cooperate with and assist Probation in making this determination.

5. The Supreme Court also ordered that Respondent, subject to a proper or good faith assertion of
any applicable privilege, fully, promptly, and truthfully answer any inquiries of Probation directed to him,
whether orally or in writing, relating to whether he is complying or has complied with the conditions of his
probation.

6. On March 20, 2007, Probation mailed a letter to Respondent with information regarding his
probation conditions. In the letter, Probation informed Respondent that his submission of compliance with
the restitution conditions was due by February 23, 2009. Respondent received the letter.
(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10/16/00. Revised 12/16/2004.)
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7. On June 13, 2007, Probation faxed a copy of its March 20, 2007 letter to Respondent at his
request. Respondent received the fax.

8. On January 24, 2008, Probation asked Respondent when he rec.eived the $2,214.54 from
USDOL so that the amount of the interest due could be determined. Respondent, in essence, replied that he
did not have the records to respond to Probation’s inquiry.

9. On January 28, 2008, CSF mailed a letter to Respondent. In the letter, CSF reported that the
amount owing to CSF relating to Hei was $14,227.55, including interest and,costs, as of January 3 l, 2008.
Respondent received the letter.

10. On January 30, 2008, Probation mailed a letter to Respondent. In the letter, Probation reported
that the interest owed to Hei was $4,627.96. In the letter, Probation also reminded Respondent that he owed
restitution to USDOL in the amount of $2,214.54, plus simple interest in the amount of $406.50, which was
calculated at the rate of 10% per annum from the date he received payment from USDOL, or March 31,
2006. In the letter, Probation reminded Respondent that all the restitution must be paid by February 23,
2009. Respondent received the letter.

11. On February 15, 2008, Probation mailed a letter to Respondent. In the letter, Probation
reported that the date of March 31, 2006 identified in Probation’s letter of January 30, 2008 was incorrect,
that the correct date was March 31, 1996, that the correct amount of the accrued interest due to USDOL as
of February 15, 2008 was $2,631.97, and that the total restitution due to USDOL was $4,846.51.
Respondent received the letter.

12. Respondent did not pay the restitution owed to Hei, CSF or USDOL; consequently, he did not
furnish satisfactory proof of such restitution to Probation by February 23, 2009.

13. As conditions of probation, the Supreme Court ordered Respondent to do the following:

a. During the period of probation, comply with the State Bar Act and the Rules of
Professional Conduct;

b. During the period of probation, maintain with the State Bar of California’s
Membership Records Office ("Membership Records") and Probation in Los
Angeles, his current office address and telephone number or, if no office was
maintained by him, an address to be used for State Bar purposes, as prescribed by
section 6002.1 of the Business and Professions Code; and his current home address
and telephone number; and notify Membership Records and Probation of any
change in any of this information no later than 10 days after the change;

c. Report, in writing, to Probation no later than April 10, July 10 and October 10 of
each year or part thereof in which Respondent is on probation stating that the report
covered the preceding calendar quarter or applicable portion thereof, and certifying
by affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California, as
follows:

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10116100. Revised 1211612004.)



.(Do not write above this line.~

(1) in the first report due, whether Respondent had complied with all the provisions
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct, and all other conditions of
probation since the beginning of probation; and,

(2) in each subsequent report, whether Respondent had complied with all the
provisions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct, and all other
conditions of probation during that period; and,

d. During the last 20 days of probation, submit a final report covering any period
of probation remaining after and not covered by the last quarterly report required
under this probation condition; certifying by affidavit or under penalty of perjury
under the laws of the State of California in such report whether Respondent had
complied with all the provisions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation during that period.

14. With Probation’s March 20, 2007 letter to Respondent, it sent a blank quarterly report form that
he could use to report his compliance to Probation. In the letter, Probation informed Respondent that his
first quarterly report was due on April 10, 2007.

15. Respondent did not file his first quarterly report with Probation, covering the period of
February 23 to March 31, 2007, by the due date of April 10, 2007 (the "first quarterly report").

16. On June 13, 2007, Probation informed Respondent that the first quarterly report was not
received from him. Probation faxed a copy of its March 20, 2007 letter to Respondent at his request.
Respondent received the fax.

17. Respondent filed the first quarterly report with Probation on June 18, 2007.

18. Respondent did not file his fifth quarterly report with Probation, covering the period of January
1 to March 31, 2008, by the due date of April 10, 2008 (the "fifth quarterly report").

19. Respondent filed the fifth quarterly report with Probation on April 17, 2008.

20. Respondent did not file his final report with Probation, covering the period of January 1 to
February 23, 2009, by the due date of February 23, 2009 (the "final report"). Respondent faxed the final
report to Probation on March 23, 2009 and Probation received the original final report on March 26, 2009.

D. Conclusions of Law

21. By not paying the restitution owed to Hei, CSF or USDOL, and consequently, not furnishing
satisfactory proof of such restitution to Probation by February 23, 2009, Respondent willfully failed to
comply with all conditions attached to any disciplinary probation, in willful violation of Business and
Professions Code, section 6068(k).

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10/16/00. Revised 12/16/2004.)
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22. By not filing the first quarterly report with Probation by April 10, 2007, Respondent willfully
failed to comply with all conditions attached to any disciplinary probation, in willful violation of Business
and Professions Code, section 6068(k).

23. By not filing the fifth quarterly report with Probation by April 10, 2008, Respondent willfully
failed to comply with all conditions attached to any disciplinary probation, in willful violation of Business
and Professions Code, section 6068(k).

24. By not filing the final report with Probation by February 23, 2009, Respondent willfully failed
to comply with all conditions attached to any disciplinary probation, in willful violation of Business and
Professions Code, section 6068(k).

Aggravating Circumstances:

B(1) Prior Record of Discipline:

Effective February 23, 2007, in Case No. 99-0-12923, Respondent was actually suspended
for 90 days [one year suspension, stayed; two years probation] for violations of the Rules of
Professional Conduct, rules 3-300 & 4-200(A).

B(4) Harm to the Administration of Justice:

Inherent in filing lawsuits that lack a basis good faith in law or fact is harm to the
administration of justice.

Ivy Hei, who was to be paid restitution under the prior discipline, suffered significant harm
from Respondent’s failure to pay her restitution.

B(7) Multiple Acts of Misconduct:

Respondent’s misconduct evidenced seven different ethical violations.

Mitigating Circumstances:

C(3) Cooperation:

Respondent displayed cooperation with the State Bar in these proceedings.

C(8) Emotional Difficulties:
C(9) Severe Financial Stress:
C(10) Family Problems:

During the time of his misconduct, Respondent was dealing with personal,
emotional and financial problems stemming from his marital dissolution [filed April
2001] and on-going child custody matters; other family difficulties; foreclosure

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10/16100. Revised 12116/2004.)
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proceedings; living for a period of time in his car and a rooming house; his personal
bankruptcy [2002]; and, his father’s dementia and death.

C(11) Good Character:

Respondent provided declarations from two Minnesota attorneys; a former Navy
and commercial pilot, now minister; an electrical engineer/businessman/and WWII
veteran; and two former clients. Familiarity ranged from three to eight years. All
provided positive character statements about Respondent.

Additional Mitigating Circumstances:

According to a letter from the Bank where Respondent held his client trust
account, there were "several instances where bank employees gave incorrect information
or used incorrect procedures, which appeared to escalate the problems [Respondent]
already had with [his] accounts."

III
III
III

Respondent provided intermittent volunteer work in church, fratemity; and non-
profit organizations, and provided pro bono services.

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10/16/00. Revised 12/16/2004.)



FILE NO.

STATE OF MINNESOTA

IN SUPREME COURT

OFFICE OF
APPELLATE cOURTS

FILED

In Re Petition for Disciplinary Action

against DAVID MAX VAN SICKLE,
a Minnesota Attorney,
Registration No. 292783.

STIPULATION FOR DISPENSING
WITH PANEL PROCEEDINGS,
FOR FILING PETITION FOR
DISCIPLINARY ACTION,
AND FOR DISCIPLINE

THIS STIPULATION is entered into by and between Martin A. Cole, Director of

the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility, hereinafter Director, and David Max

Van Sickle, attorney, hereinafter respondent.

WHEREAS, respondent has concluded it is in respondent’s best interest to enter

into this stipulation,

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and

betwe6n the undersigned as follows:

1. It is understood that respondent has the right to have charges of

unprofessional conduct heard by a Lav4yers Professional Responsibility Board Panel

prior to the filing of a petition for disciplinary action, as set forth in the Rules on

Lawyers Professional Responsibility (RLPR). Pursuant to Rule 10(a), RLPR, the parties

agree to dispense with Panel proceedings under Rule 9, RLPR, and respondent agrees

to the immediate filing of a petition for disciplinary action, hereinafter petition, in the

Minnesota Supreme Court. ,,"

2. Respondent_understands that upon the filing of this stipulation and the

petition, this matter wiIi be of public record.

EXHIBIT 1



3. It is understood that respondent has certain rights pursuant to Rule 14,

RLPR. Respondent waives these rights, which include theright to a hearing before a

referee on the petition; to have the referee make findings and conclusions and a

recommended disposition; to contest such findings and conclusions; and to a hearing.

before t_he Supreme Court upon the record,.briefs and arguments. Respondent hereby

admits service of the petition.

’    4. Respondent waives the right to answer and unconditionally admits the

allegations of the petition which may be summarized as follows:

a. Respondent .filed lawsuits on behalf of a client that, as found by the

courts, lacked a good faith basis in law or fact in violation of Rules 1.1, 3.1, and

8.4(d), Minnesota Rulesof Professional Conduct (MRPC).

, b. Respondent failed to timely disburse to a client settlement funds

that undisputedly belonged to the client in violation of Rule 1.15(b), MRPC, as

that Rule read prior to October 1, 2005.

c. Respondent commingled client and personal funds in his trust

accounts, negligently misappropr.iated client funds from his ~trust account to pay

for his personal expenses, negligently misappropriated the funds entrusted to

him on behalf of a client, failed to keep required trust account books and records,

repeatedly issued checks drawn on the trust account when there were

insufficient funds in the account to support the cl-tecks, improperly transferred

funds from his trust account by electronic transfer and ATM, and improperly

certified to the Minnesota Supreme Court that he maintained the required trust

account books and records in violation of Rules 1.15(a), (b), (c), and (10, as/"

interpreted by Lawyers Professional Responsibility Board Opinion 9 a~d

Appendix 1 to the MRPC, and Rule 8.4(c), MRPC.

d. Respondent, as evidenced by the order suspending his California

license to practice law, charg6d and collected an unconscionable fee, entered into



an improper business transaction, failed to provide written disclosure of a

financial interest in the subject matter of the representation, and intentionally or

recklessly failed to represent a client competently in violation Rules 1.1, 1.5, and

1.8(a), MRPC.

5. Respondent understands that based upon these admissions, this Court

may impose any of the sanctions set forth in Rule 15(a)(1) - (9), RLPR, including making

any disposition it deems appropriate. Respondent understands that by entering into

this stipulation, the Director is not making any representations as to the Sanction the

Court will impose.

6. The Director and respondent join in recommending that the appropriate

discipline is a four-month suspension pursuant to Rule 15, RLPR. The reinstatement

hearing provided for in Rule 18, RLPR, is not waived. Respondent may petition for

reinstatement at any time after 60 days from the effective date of his suspension.

Reinstatement is conditioned upon: (1) payment of costs in the amount of $900 pursuant

to Rule 24(d), RLPR; (2) compliance with Rule 26, RLPR; (3) pursuant to Rule 18(e),

RLPR, providing proofof successful completion of the professional responsibility

examination within one year prior to the petition for reinstatement1; (4) satisfaction of

the continuing legal education requirements pursuant to Rule 18(e), RLPR; and

(5) paying or entering into an agreement for a payment plan to pay the attorneys’ fees

assessed against him by the federal district court in the matter of Willhite v..Collins,

04-CV-4380.

7. This stipu~lation is entered into by respondent freely and voluntarily,

Without any coercion, duress or yeprese.ntati0ns by any person except as contained

herein. Y

8. Respondent hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of this stipulation.

1 Respondent states that, in connection with the reinstatement of his California license to practice law, he

took and passed the professional responsibi.lity exam in August 2007.
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9.    Respondent has been advised by the undersigned counsel concerning this

stipulation and these proceedings generally.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this stipulation on the dates

indicated below.

Dated: ~I/~,/~JL fi-@ ,2007.

Dated: D~r.--~-e.-~_ ~c, , 2007.

Dated: } :;>/~c:~ ,2007.

Dated: [ O-I g~gd ,2007.

MARTIN A. COLE

DIRECTOR OF THE OFFICE OF LAWYERS
PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

Attorney No. 148416

1500 Landmark Towers
345 St. Peter Street
St. Paul, MN 55102-1218

(651) 296-3952

PATRICK R. BURNS

FIRST ASSISTANT DIRECTOR

Attorney No. 134004

DAVID MAX VAN SICKLE
RESPONDENT

.............. ;2’~ .........

EDWARD F. KAUTZ~"
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT
Attorney No. 54112

1600 University Avenue, #510 ¯
¯ /

St. Paul, MN 55104 .... ’r~r~".
(651) o~3-yo3~ hereby Certify thatthe foregoing rest’

mentis atrue and Correct coPY oltbe
origina~ as the sa~e appears on record
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STATE OF MINNESOTA

IN SUPREME COURT

OFFICE OF
APPELLATE COURTS

FILED

In Re Petition for Disciplinary Action

against DAVID MAX VAN SICKLE,
a Minnesota Attorney,

Registration No. 292783.

PETITION FOR
DISCIPLINARY ACTION

TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

The Director of the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility, hereinafter

Director, files this petition upon the parties’ agreement pursuant to Rules 10(a) and

t2(a), Rules on Lawyers Professional Responsibility. The Director alleges:

The above-named attorney, hereinafter respondent, was admitted to practice law

in Minnesota on October 13, 1999. Respondent currently practices law in Roseville,

Minnesota.

.Respondent has committed the following unprofessional conduct warranting

public discipline:

FIRST COUNT

Willhite Matter

1. In 1996 Cheryl and Donald Collins commissioned a survey of their

property which indicated that their propgrty extended approximately 30 feet onto the

Willhi~tes" land. In 1997 the Willhites hired attorney Steven Bolton to bring aquiet title

action (case C1-9,7-682) against the Collinses asserting ownership of the disputed land

by adverse_poSsession. To support this claim, they commissioned their own survey

¯ which co~firmed the findings of the survey done by the Collinses. On March 1, 2000,

the district court ruled that the Willhites had no interest in the disputed land and

ord6red them to remove all personal property from the land.
EXHIBIT 2



2. The Willhites appealed the decision but the Minnesota Court of Appeals

affirmed and the Minnesota Supreme Court denied review.

3. In March 2002 the Pfillhites retained attorney Dwain Fagerlund to bring a

motion to vacate the state court judgment based upon a new survey done by AMI

Surveyors & Mappers indicating that the two previous surveys were flawed.

4.    iBy order in case C1-97-682, dated April 12, 2002, the state court denied the

motion to vacate saying, "The time for finding mistakes has passed, to revisit this

matter would burden the Defendants with unnecessary costs, undermine the principal

of finality of judgment and would be an inefficient use of the Courts time." The court

also held the Willhites in contempt of the March 1, 2001, order for failing to remove

encroaching structures from theCollinses" property. The Willhites did not appeal the

April 12, 2002, order.

5. " On August 10, 2002, respondent began representing the Willhites.

6.     On October 1, 2002, respondent executed a summons and a complaint

entitled, "Action to Determine Boundary Lines" naming the Collinses, Terry and Diane

Glinnon, and Does I thro.ugh 10 as defendants. This matter was assigned court file

number C8-02-1117.

7. The action initiated by respondent in C8-02-1117 sought to have the

Willhites" and Collinses" boundary line set in accord with the survey done by Roger

Mustonen of AMI Surveyors & Mappers. This would have the practical effect of

locating the boundary between the Willhite and Collins properties differently than it

was determined to be in the March 1, 2000, order in C1-97-682. This, despite the clear

rulings of the court in C1-97-682 that such boundaries had already/b.een judicially

determined and that the issue would not be revisited.

8. Respondent appeared on behalf of the Wil]hites at an October ]~, 2002,

hearing in case C1-97-682, regarding the Collinses’ compliance or lack of compliance
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with the court’s April 12, 2002, order to remove their sewer system from the property.

During that hearing Judge Haas said:

Finally, please don’t miscalculate by thinking that you have a solution by

some registration proceeding, because my off-hand suspicion is that it is
not going to remedy your problem. The law of this case has been
established, it has been appealed, it has been affirmed. It is over with ....

My suspicion is it is not going to be opened again by whatever filings you
may attempt. Please don’t miscalculate thinking that will solve your
problem because it won’t.

I realize and I can understand that an error could have occurred. For the
sake of argument I will say it has, it doesn’t matter, folks, the law of this

case has been established. If there was an error that needs to be shown
you need to have shown it at a proper time. It wasn’t. The law of the case
is established.                              "

Mr. Van Sickle, is there anyway I could make anything more clear or is

there any area here that is unclear to you or your clients?

MR. VAN SICKLE: We are clear, Your Honor, thank you.

9. Despite the warning from the court at the October 4 hearing respondent,

that same day, filed the summons and action to determine boundary lines with the

court and, on October 10, 2002, filed a First Amended Complaint; Action to-Determine

Boundary Lines in C8-02-1117.

10. On January 6, 2003, Stephen Baker, attorney for the Collinses in

C8-02-1117, wrote to respondent asking him to dismiss the case against his clients with

prejudice because ’,It]he boundary between the Willhite property and that of the

Collins" has been judicially established, ires judicata and/or collateral estoppel will

prevent your clients, as a matter of law, from claiming otherwise".

11. ,~,n’~pril 8, 2003,-the court issued an order in C1-97-682, which, amongst

other thing, s, denied a motion brought to vacate the court’s judgment in that matter.

The court, in its memorandum, stated:
As to Plaintiffs’ request to vacate the judgment based on Mr. Mustonen’s
survey, the Court incorporates the relevant portions of its Order and
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Memorandum dated April 12, 2002. Plaintiffs had sufficient time before
trial and during the appeals process to uncover new information. Further,

Mr. Mustonen’s report is not conclusive.

12. On June 26, 2003, the court issued an amended order in case C8-02-1117

denying respondent’s motion to compel discovery and sua sponte, dismissing the case

with prejudice against the Collinses. The court held that collateral estoppe] and res

judicata barred the matter as to the Collinses. The court awarded costs and

disbursements to the Collinses. The Willhites did.not appeal this order.

On July 21, 2003, respondent filed a motion for declaratory judgment in13.

C8-02-1117.

on the

14. In an October 30, 2003, order in case C8-02-1117, Judge John Smith ruled

motion for declaratory judgment, stating in par~::

This Court ruled that, regardless of the survey, the surveyor or the
location of the section quarter corners, the common boundary line
between the property owned by Plaintiffs and the property owned by
Defendants Collins had been determined in Court File No. C1-97-682.

Nothing in this Court’s order or orders in this case changes or alters the
common boundary as previously determined in any way. Any attempts

to re-litigate, interfere with or otherwise alter that previous determination

will result in severe sanctions against the offending party.

15. On March 23, 2004, the Collinses’ attorney brought a motion for an award

of sanctions in C8-02-1117.

16. On April 12, 2004, Judge Smith entered an order awarding costs and

attorney f~es in the total amount of $1,440 against respondent in case no. C8-02-1117,

stating:
Parties should not be subjected to repeated litigatiorf’ over matters that
have been finally adjudicated. Tl~e attorney for a party is the gatekeeper

to prevent such abuses. The Court finds that Mr. Van Sickl, i,e,/did not act. as "
the gatekeeper in this case on behalf of his clients. The ~CO’urt finds that
Mr. Van Sickle violated Minn. Star. § 549.211, Subd. 2, and therefore,
sanctions are appropriate.
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17. In May 2004 respondent withdrew from representing the Willhites in case

CI-9Y-682 but continued to represent them in other matters related to the boundary

dispute including a lawsuit brought on behalf of the Willhites against Cass County

(CX-03-1243) and another lawsuit brought against Cass County and Schellack

Engineering (the company who did the first survey on behalf of the Willhites) in the fall

of 2002 (case no. C0-03-05).

18.    On October 21, 2003, in case CX-03-1243, respondent faxed to the Cass

County auditor a motion for ex parte relief against Cass County seeking an order

directing them to issue a building permit to the Wilthites for construction of a septic

system on their property. One of the requirements of the final order in C1-97-682 was

that the Willhites remove their septic system from the Collinses’ property. Respondent

sought !o have the motion heard the next day. Respondent had not, before bringing the

motion, initiated a lawsuit, commenced an action by filing the matter with the court and

paying a filing fee, or given adequate notice to the county. The court declined to hear

respondent’s motion.

19. On October 31, 2003, respondent renewed his request for an ex parte

motion in matter number CX-03-1243, this time including a summons and complaint for

declaratory judgment. Respondent scheduled his motion for hearing on November 3,

2003.

20.    On November 3, 2003, a hearing was held on the motion for an ex parte

order in CX-03-1243. Respondent did not attend that hearing, but an associate, Howard

Lazarus, ,attended on behalf of the Willhites. At that hearing it became clear that the

relief sought by re#pondent was an order directing the issuance of a building permit to
/

permit the co~truction of a septic system by the Willhites that would, in part, be ~built

on land owned by the Collinses as determined in C1-97-682. The court denied the

motion for exparte relief and stated, in part:
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Wait a minute. Let’s correct the record right now about that. I just made
an order in this case relating to the boundary on the opposite side of the
Collins" property. The Collins-Willhite boundary was established by

Judge Haas’ order sometime ago and the survey does not change that. So

if this is an application for a permit to put a system on the property that
belongs to the Collinses, then you’re not going to be successful in this
action.

21. On April 5, 2004, case number CX-03-1243 was ordered dismissed without

prejudice for failure to make proper service.

22. On October 8, 2004, respondent commenced a federal lawsuit on behalf of

the Willhites against Collinses, et al., based upon claims under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and

1985 and several purportedly supplementary state tort claims all arising out of and

based upon the assertion that the survey relied upon the state court in establishing the

Willhite/Collins boundary in C1-97-682 was erroneous. Respondent’s requested relief

included a request that the federal court order Cass County to recognize and enforce the

surveys conducted by Roger Mustonen of AMI Surveyors & Mappers.

23. On July 29, 2005, Federal Magistrate Judge Raymond Erickson

reprimanded respondent for his conduct during the deposition of one of the

defendants. The court found: "While we find the conduct of Plaintiffs’ counsel

[respondent] to fall below the .standards expected of Federal practitioners, in this

District, we limit our sanction to a Reprimand." The reprimand was based on the

following conduct:

As to the deposition of Freeman, we have now completed our review of
the transcript of that deposition, and have substantial concern about the

knowledge of Plaintiffs’ counsel [respondent]
I.concerning the Federal

Rules applicable to t_he taking of depositions. Most evident is counsel’s

misperception that, if he notes a discovery deposition, he "’o_o_o~ns’ the
deposition, and can control its course and scope.....    -,

Secondly, Plaintiffs" counsel has no apparent understanding that he may

not phase the discovery so as to only benefit his clients. He appears to
believe that, if he notices a deposition, then the questioning will proceed
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until the time he has selected for the next deposition, even if counsel for
the Defendants have not completed their examination of the deponent ....

We also have substantial concern that Plaintiffs’ counsel misapprehends

the purpose of objections during the course of a discovery deposition ....
With regularity, Plaintiffs’ counsel posed questions to the witness which
were vague, oblique and abstruse.       .

We are particularly troubled by counsel for the Plaintiffs’ discourtesies to
both the witness, and to opposing counsel.

24. On August 24, 2005, Judge James Rosenbaum granted the defendants’

motion for summary judgment m~d issued an order to show cause why respondent

should not be sanctioned. WiIlhite v. Collins, 385 F. Supp. 2d 926 (D. Minn. 2005). In his

order, Judge Rosenbaum stated:

This case represents an entirely improper effort to resuscitate a
long-decided Minnesota state court dispute.

Notwithsfanding these conclusive determinations [in state court], the

Willhites now come to federal court attempting to exhume their dead

claims by alleging a deprivation of constitutional rights under 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983. Whether framed as state or federal claims, their facts and
allegations are for all intents and purposes identical to those litigated in
the Minnesota state court cases.

Even if this Court had jurisdiction, this case presents the quintessential
example of collateral estoppel .... The boundary line issue has been
litigated, litigated, and re-litigated in state court.

25. On November 21, 2005, Judge Rosenbaum issued an order suspending

respondent’s admission to practice in the United states District Court, District of

Minnesota, until he paid a monetary sanction of 50 percent of the attorneys’ fees

incurred by each/defendant in the federal case who was also a party to any of the

several relat_,ed state court actions and offered proof that he had taken and passed a law

school course in federal jurisdiction. The court stated:
Mr. Van Sickle filed this case in federal court, when no competent lawyer
could reasonably believe there was a colorable or legally-supportable



claim. In doing so, he has caused each defendant to incur significant

attorneys’ fees and costs, and such conduct is deserving of sanction.

26. On August 21, 2006, the United States Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals

affirmed .the district court’s finding of misconduct and the imposition of monetary

sanctions but remanded for further proceedings as to respondent’s suspension from

practice and the requirement that he take and pass a course in federal jurisdiction. The

Court of Appeals stated, in part, "we agree that sanctions are warranted in this case"

and "It]he amount of the monetary sanction in this case is substantial, but not

unwarranted ....[W]e believe a large award is necessary to deter Van Sickle from

similar misconduct."

27. Respondent has not paid the monetary sanctions imposed.

28. Respondent’s conduct in the repeated filing of lawsuits in the Willhite

matter that lacked a good faith basis in law or fact violated Rules 1.1, 3.1, and 8.4(d)

Minnesota Rules of Professional Conduct (MRPC).

SECOND COUNT

Garthe Matter

29.    Respondent represented Debra Garthe in an action against Principal Lif~

Insurance Company (Principal). Respondent agreed to represent Garthe in that matter

for a fiat fee of $250 plus expenses. That matter was settled and Principal issueda

settlement check payable to respondent and Garthe in the amount of $12,775.54.

30. On yune 4, 2002, respondent wrote to Garthe telling her he expected the

settlement check by June 7 and enclosing a schedule of costs and fees reflecting a

balance owed Of $969.47.

June 28, 2002, respondent wrote to Garthe noting t_~l~ was31. On in

possession of the Principal settlement check, requesting payment of $348.47 in costs,

and stating, "’Please send me your personal check or money order for the costs, $348.47.

When those funds have cleared I will endorse the settlement check and mail it to you."
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As of the date of respondent’s letter, it was undisputed that Garthe was entitled to at

least $12,427.07 from the Principal settlement funds.

32. On July 17, 2002, Garthe complained to the Office of Lawyers Professional

Responsibility about respondent, making various allegations of misconduct, including

misconduct in his handling of the Principal settlement funds.

33. On July 26, 2002, at respondent’s request, Principal issued two

replacement checks: one in the amount of $423.47 representing amounts claimed owed

to respondent and another in the amount of $12,352.07 representing amounts owed to

Garthe.

34. On August 6, 2002, respondent wrote to Garthe stating:

Principal Insurance provided two replacement Checks; for $12,352.0Z and

$423.47. Please endorse the $423.47 check and return it to me as full satisfaction
of all claims between us. I will waive the difference [between costs claimed
owed by respondent of $447.47 and the $423.47], and return the draft for

$12,352.07 endorsed to you, and we can consider all matters between us
terminated.

35. Garthe disputed respondent’s entitlement to the full $423.47 and declined

to endorse and return the check to respondent.

36. Respondent did not promptly pay to Garthe the $12,352.07 represented by

the Principal settlement check in his possession despite the fact that he claimed no

entitlement to those funds.

37. On March 13, 2003, the Director wrote to respondent noting the provisions

of Rule 1.1~(c), MRPC, stating, "That check [for $12,352.07] constitutes funds which all

agree belong to Ms. Garthe and should not be held as ’ransom’ to resolve the fee

dispute which gpd/t~ave regarding the other check."

38. -On March 15, 2003, respondent replied to the letter from the Director

acknowledging that the funds belonged to Garthe and enclosing the $12,352.07 check to

the Director for forwarding to Garthe.
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39. On May 12, 2003, Garthe wrote to respondent noting receipt of the

$12,352.07 check and informing him the bank would not cash the check because it was

no longer valid. Garthe asked respondent to obtain a new check from Principal.

40. On May 29, 2003, respondent wrote to Garthe noting receipt of her May 12

letter and refusing to ask Principal to reissue the check.

41. Principal eventually, upon request of the Director, reissued the check to

Garthe.

42.. Respondent’s conduct in failing to disburse to his client Garthe that

portion of her settlement funds that was undisputedly hers violated Rule 1.15(b),

MRPC, as that rule read prior to October 1, 2005.

THIRD COUNT

Trust Account Violations

Improper Commingling of Personal and Client Funds in Trust Account

43. Respondent is a Solo practitioner. At all times relevant, respondent

maintained TCF Financial Corporation lawyer trust account no. 9851823039 (trust

account). Respondent is s01e!y responsible for the maintenance of his trust account

books and records.

¯ 44. On October 7, 2002,pursuant to Rule 1.15(j) through (o), MRPC, the

Director received notice from TCF of an October 3, 2002, overdraft on respondent’s trust

account. Documents provided by respondent in response to the Director’s inquiry

regarding the overdraft indicated that, among other things, he was using his trust

account to pay business and personal expenses. The Director Opened a disciplinary file

and requested respondent provide additional information and records. ,"
/

45.    Respondent provided theDirector witlq various trust ac/ccount books and

records for three periods of time: January 30, 2000, through June 16, 2000; December 18,

2000, through March 18, 2002; and August 16, 2002, through November 16, 2004.
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‘16. The Director reviewed the trust account books and records provided by

respondent and identified numerous trust account transactions paying respondent’s

personal and business expenses. Those include:

a.    On April 9 and April 10, 2001, respondent wrote ten checks numbered

5000 through 5009 totaling $807.‘1‘1 from his trust account to pay personal

and/or business expenses (Qwest, A_AA, MBNA, Office Max, etc.)."

b.    From Augt~st 17, 2002, through December 3, 2002, respondent wrote at

least ‘12 trust account checks to pay" personal or business expenses (food,

auto fuel, insurance, phone or respondent’s family law attorney, among

others) in amounts ranging from $10 to $500.

c.     From August 28, 2002, through January 31, 2003, respondent wrote over

30 checks payable to "’cash" in amounts ranging between $50 and $1,500.

,17. At the ~mes respondent was utilizing his trust account for the deposit and

disbursement of his personal funds, he also held client funds in the account.

Trust Account Sho[tages and Deficiencies

January through October 2001.

48.    Respondent provided for the Director’s review bank statements for the

trust account and reconciliations for the period of December 18, 2000, through

March 18; 2002.

49.    As of January 17, 2001, respondent held in his trust account $831.62 on

behalf of his clients Cybelink and Yang. From January 17 through March 7, 2001,

respondent d,~d not disburse any funds on behalf of Cybelink and Yang.

50. Between March 7 and March 30, 2001, respondent made ATM

withdrawals frorr~e account that totaled, together with associated fees, $188. These

ATM withdrawals are not attributed by respondent to any client and were made for

respondent’s personal benefit.
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51. Respond.ent deposited no funds into the account to support the AIIM

withdrawals. The funds withdrawn by ATM were funds that belonged to respondent~s

clients Cybelink and Yang. Respondent’s withdrawals of these funds constitute

misappropriation:

.52. Respondent cured the shortage created by the ATM withdrawals by

depositing $37,701.44 to the account onApril 10, 2001. Respondent attributed $37,000 of

the deposit to an unidentified client and the balance consisted of respondent’s own

funds.

53.    As of April 10, 2001, respondent should have been holding $37,831.62 in

the account on behalf of clients (Cybelink - $487.50, Yang - $344.12, and $37,000 on

behalf of the unidentified client). The ending balance in the account on April 10 was

$3,8,345.06, reflecting the client funds plus $513.44 in respondent’s own funds in the

account (negative $188 + $701.44).

54.    Between April 10 through 16, 2001, the bank paid checks nos. 5000-5009

drawn on the trust account (see paragraph 44 above). All of these checks were issued in

payment of respondent’s personal or business expenses. The payment of these checks,

totaling $807.44, resulted in a shortage of $294 in client funds that should have been

held in the account (4/10 balance of $38,345.06 - $807.44 = balance of $37,537.62 on 4/16;

client funds totaling $37,831.62 should be in account - 4/16 balance of $37,537.62 = $294

shortage). Respondent’s disbursement from the account of $294 of client funds for his

own benefit constitutes misappropriation.

55.    In April 2001, Arthur D’Amario retained respondent to represent him in a

"Federalhabeas petition proceeding. At that time, D’Amario was incarcerated in t/h6

Correctional Facility in Rochester, Minnesota. Respondent charged aad D’Amario paid

a flat, nonrefundable fee of $2,500 for representation in the habeas proceedings. No

portion of this fee was deposited-into a trust account.
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56. D’Amario also separately retained respondent to represent him in a

medical malpractice claim against psychiatrists who had evaluated and treated him

while at the Rochester facility. No separate written retainer agreement was entered into

in regard to this representation and respondent did not communicate to D’Amario his

intent to charge a fee or the basis or rate of that fee until October 18, 2001.

57. Respondent frequently communicated with D’Amario through an

intermediary, Frank Feiner.

58.    On May 15, 2001, respondent told Feiner that he had located a psychiatrist

to evaluate D’Amario and that the psychiatrist required an $1,800 fee payable in

advance.

59.    On May 24, 2001, Feiner wrote to respondent asking, "Can you check with

FMC Rochester to see if the $1800 transfer [D’Amario] authorized be sent to you to pay

Dr. Gratzer was indeed sent?"

60.    On June 7, 2001, Feiner wrote to respondent to inform him "that

[D’Amario’s] brothe~ Jeff has arranged to have Dr. Gratzer’s fee sent to you."

61.    On June 25, 2001, respondent deposited into his trust account the $17800

provided by D’Amario to pay the psychiatrist.

62.    On June 2t, 2001, prior to depositing D’Amario’s funds in his trust

account, respondent issued and paid to himself check no. 5019 drawn on the trust

account payable to himself in the amount of $450. Respondent attributed this check as

payment tO himself in the D’Amario malpractice matter. D’Amario had not authorized

this payment tt~ respondent. Respondent did not provide D’Amario with notification of

the time, amount and purpose of the withdrawal from the trust account represented by

check no. 5019 or,,an~accounting of D’Amario’s remaining funds held in trust as

required by Rule 1.15(b), MRPC.

63.    On August 6, 2001, respondent issued and paid to attorney Maureen

Williams check no. 5023 drawn on the trust account in the amount of $225 as payment
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for legal research on the malpractice matter. D’Amario had not authorized this

payment to Williams.

64. By letter dated October 15, 2001, D’Amario told respondent he no longer

wished to pursue any litigation against the federal government and asked for a refund

of all but $500 of the $4,300 he had given respondent.

65.    On October 18, 2001, respondent issued and paid to himself check nos.

5028, 5029 and 5030 drawn on the trust account payable to himself in the total amount

of $600.10. Respondent attributed these checks as payment to himself in the D’Amari0

malpractice matter. D’Amario.had not authorized these payments to respondent. On

the same date, respondent sent D’Amario a check for $525 and a letter and an invoice

showing that he had taken $1,275 for "miscellaneous legal work and expenses" from the

$1,800 paid by D’Amario for the psychiatric evaluation.

66.    Respondent’s unauthorized disbursement to himself and Williams of

$1,275 of the $1,800 entrusted to him by D’Amario for purposes other than those

specified by D’Amario and his failure to return the full $1,800 to D’Amario constitutes

misappropriation.

August 2002 through November 2004.

67.    At the Director’s reqtiest, respondent provided trust account books and

records for the period of August 16, 2002, through November 16, 2004 .(audit period).

The Director audited respondent~s trust account for this period.

68.    Based upon respondent’s records it was impossible to determine whether

he had sufficient funds in the account throughout the audit peri6d to cover amounts

that were to have been held intrust on behalf of clients. Responden~’s check register

and client subsidiary ledgers improperly reflected transfers of funds e~een clients,

contained inexplicable entries not supported by transactions reflected in the bank

statements, attributed as client expenditures many disbursements made directly from

the account that were clearly payments of respondent’s personal or business expenses,
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reflected payments made to cash and/or payments made by ATM withdrawals; failed to

reflect transactions that appear on the bank statements; and reflected numerous

instances where respondent had disbursed funds from the account on behalf of a client

in excess of the funds held in the account on that client’s behalf.

69. Examples include, but are not limited to:

a. The bank statement for the account reflects a deposit of $2,789.28

on September 9, 2002. This deposit does not appear on respondent’s check

register or on any client subsidiary ledger produced by respondent.

Respondent’s check register and his subsidiary ledger for his client Willhite .do

reflect a deposit of $2,189.28 on September 17, 2002. Such a deposit is not

reflected on the bank statement and the $600.00 difference is not otherwise

accounted for.

b. Respondent’s Cybelink subsidiary ledger reflects transfers from

that sub account to the sub accounts of his clients Fly, Kasaga, Harris and

Oduniyi without any indication of the purpose of thetransfers or that the

matters are related.

c. Respondent’s Davis subsidiary ledger reflects a deposit of $50 to

the account on March 25, 2004. No such deposit appears on the bank statement.

d. Respondent’s Fly Subsidiary ledger reflects payments to payees

that appear to be expenditures for respondent’s personal and business, expenses,

such as: DV -Mailboxes - $20.69; DV - Midas - $35.00; DV - Walgreens - $33.24;

and DV-/Office Max - $31.94.

e. Re,s, pondent’s Siem subsidiary ledger reflects an entry for

August 16, 2002, .designated as a payment from the account in the amount of

$2,834.76 and labeled by respondent as "8/16 Adjustment." The bank statement

does not reflect an August 16 debit to the account of $2,834.76 and there is
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otherwise no explanation in the records provided by respondenf for the

adjustment.

70. Despite the difficulty in determining from respondent’s records exactly

what funds he was to have been holding in trust on behalf of what clients at any given

time, it does appear that there were overall shortages in the account. For example, on

August 16, 2002, respondent’s bank statement balance was $1,363.07. As of that date,

respondent’s subsidiary ledgers indicated he should have been holding at least

$i,598.83 in the account on behalf of four clients (Cybelink - $6.83, Kasaga - $100.00,

$iem - $699.841, Willhite - $749.16, and Wilson - $43.00). Thus, as Of August 16, 2002,

respondent’s trust account was short $235.76.

April through August 2006.

71. On August 15, 2006, pursuant to Rule 1.15(j) through (o), MRPC, the

IJirector received notice of an August 10, 2006, overdraft on respondent’s trust account

at Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., account no. 2352-650543.

72. Between August 9 and August 14, 2006,.respondent disbursed seven

insufficiently funded trust account checks totaling $757.14. All of these checks were for

respondent’s personal or business expenses. Wells Fargo Bank assessed respondent

$231 in overdraft fees.

73. Based on records provided by respondent, the Director determined that

prior to respondent’s disbursements of August 9 - 14, 2006, respondent’s trust account

was already short $566.52. In two client matters, respondent had disbursed trust

account funds exceeding the funds he had on deposit for those clients. (Con_nor, $341.54

and Willhite, $224.98). The shortage in the Willhite subsidiary ledger had existed since

~ The August 16, 2002~ balance for Siem appears to actually have been $3,552.50. Respondent’s ledger
reflects a $699.84 balance by deducting fromthe balance a $17.90 payment to Superarnerica, which
appears to be a personal expense, and $2,834.76 designated as an "Adjustment." A $3,552.50 balance for
Siem would result in a $3,088.42 shortage on August 16.
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at least April 2006. The Cormor subsidiary ledger had shortages in December 2005 and

May 2006.

74. As of August 18, 2006, the total shortage in respondent’s trust account was

$1.,832.77 ($566.52 ICon_nor and Willhite shortages] plus $1,034.25 [respondent’s

personal expenses] plus $231 [overdraft fees]). Respondent deposited $1,000 into his

trust account on August 18, 2006, to partially cure the shortage. Respondent’s trust

account remained $831.77 short.

Electronic Transfers from Trust Account

75. Pursuant to Rule 1.15, MRPC, as interpreted by Appendix I thereto

(formerly Lawyers Professional Responsibility Board (LPRB) Opinion No. 9), lawyers

are required to disburse all trust funds by check, except where payment by check would

be economically imprudent or when exigent circumstances require a wire transfer.

76. Begiru~ing with a March 4, 2003, transfer withdrawal of $5,363.12 and

continuing through at least November 1, 2004, when respondent transferred $1,500 by

telephone, respondent: made at least 68 automated telephone transfers out of his trust

account into account no. 1852119388 in amounts ranging from $250 to $5,363.12.

77.    No exigent circumstances existed to justify respondent’s electronic

withdrawals.

78.    Begiru-~ing with an October 8, 2002, ATM withdrawal of $15.01 at a

SuperAmerica in Roseville, Minnesota, respondent used ATMs to withdraw funds from

his trust account at least 22 times between October 8, 2002, and November 16, 2004.

Respondent’s ATM withdrawals ranged in amount from $10 to $260. Respondent

incurred additional bankfees due to his ATM use.                .:

Failure to Keepthe    uired Trust Account Books and Records

79. For the peiiod of January 30, 2000, through June 16, 2000, respondent

provided trust account books and records consisting of bank statements and cancelled

checks.
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80. During this period respondent failed to maintain a check register,

subsidiary ledgers, monthly subsidiary ledger trial balances, monthly reconciliations of

the checkbook balance, Subsidiary ledger trial balance total and the adjusted bank

statement balance, duplicate deposit slips and other bank records as required by

Rule 1.15, MRPC, as interpreted by LPRB Opinion 9, now Appendix I to the MRPC.

81. Due to resp0ndent’s failure to maintain the required records, the Director

was unableto accuratelyattribute ownership of the funds respondent held in his trust

account between January 30, 2000, through June 16, 2000.

82. For the period of Dec6mber 18, 2000, through March 18, 2002, respondent

provided trust account books and records consisting of bank statements, canceled

checks and monthly subsidiary ledger trial balances.

83. Respondent failed to maintain a trust account check register, subsidiary

ledgers, monthly reconciliations ¯of the checkbook balance, subsidiary, ledger trial

balance total and the adjusted bank statement balance, duplicate deposit slips and other

bank records as required by Rule 1.15, MRPC, as interpreted by LPRB Opinion 9, now

Appendix 1 to the MRPC.

84. For the period of August 16, 2002, through November 16, 2004,

respondent provided partial bank statements, a check register, client subsidiary ledgers

and a personal subsidiary ledger for the period August 16, 2002, through November 16,

2004.

85. In spite of requests from the Director, respondent failed to provide any

bank statements for the periods of: May 17, 2003, through June 1G 2003; July 18, 2003,

through August 16, 2003; and August 17, 2003, through September 16, 2003/¯
o sfoRespondent also failed to provide the other required trust account bor these

months.

86. For the period of August 16, 2002, through November 16, 2004,

respondent failed to maintain monthly subsidiary ledger trial balances, monthly
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reconciliations of the checkbook balance, subsidiary ledger trial balance total and the

adjusted bank statement balance, duplicate deposit slips and other bank records as

required by Rule 1.15, MR_PC, as interpreted by LPRB Opinion 9, now Appendix 1 to the

MRPC.

87. Respondent falsely certified to the Minnesota Supreme Court that he kept

the required trust account books and records from 2002 through 2006.

88. Respondent’s conduct in commingling client and personal funds in his

trust accounts, misappropriating client funds from his trust account to pay for his

personal expenses, misappropriating the funds entrusted to him on behalf of his client

D’Amario, failing to keep required trust account books and records, repeatedly issuing

checks drawn on the trust account when there were insufficient funds in the account to

support the checks, improperly transferring funds from his trust account by electronic

transfer and ATM, and falsely certifying to the Minnesota Supreme Court that he

maintained the required trust account books and records violated Rules 1.15(a), (b), (c),

and (h); as interpreted by LPRB Opinion 9 and Appendix 1 to the MRPC, and 8.4(c),

MRPC.

FOURTH COUNT

California Discipline

89. On January 24, 2007, the Supreme Court of California ordered that

respondent’s California license to practice law be suspended for one year, that the

execution of the suspension be stayed, and that he be placed on probation for two years

subject to conditions of probation including restitution and three months actual

suspension.

90. Resp0n-d~ent’s California suspension arose out of respondent, in a single

client matter, charging and collecting an unconscionable, fee, entering into an improper

business transaction, failing to provide written disclosure of a financial interest in the

19



subiect matter of the representation, and intentiona]ly or recklessly failing to represent

the client competently.

91. Pursuant to Rule 12(d), RLPR, the California adjudication that respondent

committed the misconduct set forth above in paragraph 89 establishes the misconduct

conclusively for the purposes of these proceedings.

92. RespondenVs conduct, as evidenced by the suspension of his California

license to practice law, in charging and collecting an unconscionable fee, entering into

an imprope6 business transaction, failing to provide written disclosure of a financial

interest in the subject matter of the representation, and intentionally or recklessly failing

to represent the client competently violated Rules 1.1, 1.5, and 1.8(a), MRPC~.

WHEREFORE, the Director respectfully prays for an order of this Court

, imposing appropriate discipline,awarding costs and disbursements pursuant to the

Rules on Lawyers Professional Responsibility, and for such other, further or different

relief as may be just and proper.

Dated: ,~.~-K~,/,,~.v:glf. ,~ , 2007.

MARTIN A. COLE
DIRECTOR OF THE OFFICE OF LAWYERS

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

Attorney No. 148416
1500 Landmark Towers
345 St. Peter Street

St. Paul, MN 55102-1218
(651) 296-3952      ~

and

PATRICK R. BURNS

FIRST ASSISTANT DIRECTOR
Attorney No. 134004
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MINNESOTA RULES
OF

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
Effective October 1, 2005

Amended July 1, 2007

On ,June 17, 2005, the Minnesota Supreme Court ordered that:

1) the amendmeuts to the Minnesota Rules of Professioual Conduct contained herein are
prescribed and promulgated to be effective October 1,2005.        ..

2) the iuclusion of comments is madc for convenience and does not reflect court approval of
the comments made thercin.

EXHIBIT 3
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~ULEI.I’ COMPETENCE

¯ lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent re.p~-esentation requires the legal knowledge,
<ill, thorougtmess, and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.

Corn m en ~

Legal Knowledge and Skill

[1] In detem~inmg whether a lawyer employs the requisite knowleOge and skill m a particular matter,.relevant factors include
the relative complexity" and specialized nature of the matter, the lawyer’s general experience; t~e lawyer’s training and
experience in the field in question, the preparation and study the lawyer is able to give the matter, and whether it is feasible to
refer the matter to, or associate or consult with, a lawyer of established competence in the field in question In many
instance, s, the required proficie~ncy is that of a general practitioner. Expertise in a particular field of law may be required m
some circmnstances.

[2] A lawyer need not necessarily have special training or prior experie~ce to handle l~gal problems of a type with which the
lawyer is unfamiliar. A newly admitted lawyer can be as competent as a practitioner with long experience. Some important
legal skills, such as the ana}ysis of precedent, the evaluation of evidence and legal drafting, are required in all legal problems.
Perhaps the most fundamental lega] skill consists of deterrnining what kind of legal problems a situatisn may involve, a skill
that necessarily transcends any particular specialized knowledge. A lawyercan provide adequate representation in a ~vholly
novel field through necessary study~ Competen.t representation can also be provided through the association of a lawyer of
established competence in the field in question.

[3] In aft emergency, a lawyer may give advice or assistance in a matter in which the lawyer does not have the skiI] ordinarily
required where referral to or consultation or association with another lawyer would be impractical Even in ar~ emergency,
however, assistance should be limited to tha~ reasonably necessary in the circumstances, for ill-considered action under
emerg, ency conditions can jeopardize the client’s interest.

[4] A lawyer may accept representation where the requisite level of competence .can be achieved by reasonable preparation.
This applies as well to a lawyer who is appointed as counsel for an unsepresented person. See also Rule 6.2.

Thoroughness and Preparation

[5] Competent handling of a particular matter includes inquiry into and analysis of the factua] and legal elements of the
problem, and use of methods and procedures meeting the standards of competent practitioners. It also includes adequate
preparation. The required attention and preparation m’e determined in part by what is at stake; major litigation and complex
transactions ordinarily re.quire more extensive treatment than matters of lesser complexity and consequence. An ag!-eement
between the lawyer’and the client regarding the scope of the representation may limit 1he matters for which the lawyer is
responsible. See Rule 12(c).

Maintaining Competence

[6] To maintain the requisite knowledge and skill, a lawyer should keep abreast of changes in the law and its practice, engage
m continuing study and education and comply with all continuing legal .education requirement~ lo which the lawyer is
subject.



1.15: SAFEKEEPING PROPERTY

(a) AI]. funds of clients or third persons held by a lawyer or law firm in com~ection with a representation shall be
teposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts as set forth in paragraphs (d) through (g) and as defined in
,aragraph (o). No funds belonging to the lawyer or law" firm shall be deposited therein except as follows:

(1) funds of’the lawyer or law firm reasonably suffScient to pay service charges may be deposited therein;

(2) funds belonging ira part to a client or third person and in part presently or potentially to the lawyer or taw
firm must be deposited thereto.

(b) .A lawyer must withdraw earned fees and any other funds belonging to the lawyer or the law firm flom the trust
:count within a reasonable time after the fees have been earned or entitlement to the funds has been established and

lawyer must provide the client or third person with: (i) written notice of the time, amount, and the purpose of the
"ithdrawal; and (it) anaccounting of the client’s or third person’s funds in the trust account. If the right of the lawyer
iaw firm to receive funds from the account is disputed by the client or third persoa claiming entitlement to the funds,
disputed portion shall riot be withdrawn until the dispute is final/y resolved. If the right of the law-yet or ]aw firm to

:ceive funds from the account is disputed within a reasonable time after the funds have been withdrawn., the disputed
?~ion must be restored to the account until the dispute is resolved.

(c) A lawyer

~ ’(1) promptly notify a client or third person of the receipt of the client’s or third person s funds, securities, or
other propel-ties;

(2) identify and label securiiies and properties of a client or third person promptly upon receipt and place them
in a safe deposit box or other place of safekeeping as soon as practicab]e

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and. other properties of a client or third person coming
into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accounts to the client or third person regarding them;

(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or third person as requested the funds, securities, or other properties
in the possession of the lawyer which the client or third person is entitled to receive; and

(5) deposit all fees in advance of the legal services being performed into a trust account and withdraw the fees
as earned unless the Jawyer and the client have entered into a written agreement pursuant to Rule 1.5(b).

(d) Each trust account referred to in paragraph (a) shall be an account in an eligible financial institution selected by
awyer in the exercise of ordinary prudence.

(e) A lawyer who receives client or third person funds shall maintain a pooled trust account (’~IOLTA account")
: deposit of funds that are nominal in amount or expected to be held for la short period Of time.

(f) All client or third person funds shall be deposited m the account specified i/n-)aragraph (p) unless they are
posited in a:

(1) separate trust account for the particular third person, client, or chent, matter on which the earnings, net of
any transaction Costs, will be paid to the client or third person; or     ..

(2) pooled trust account with subaccounting which will provide for computation of earnings accrued on each
client’s or third person’s funds and the payment thereof, net of any transaction costs, to the client.



(g) In determining whether to use the account spe, cified ff~ paragraph (e) or an account specified m paragraph (0, a
awyer shall take into consideration the following

(]) the amount of earnings whic]~ the funds would accrue during the period they are expected to be de:posited;

(2) the cost or--establishing and administering the account, including the cost of the ]av~er’s services;

(3) the capability of financial restitutions described in paragraph (d) to calculate and pay earnings to
individual clients.

Only funds that could not accrue earnings for the client, net of the costs described in subparagraph (2) above, may
e placed or retained in the account specified in paragraph (e).

(h). Every lawyer engaged in private practice of law shall maintain or cause to be maintained on a current basis,
?oks and records sufficient to demonstrate income derived from, and expenses related to, the lawyer’s private practice
:.law, and to establish compliance with paragraphs (a) through (f). Equivalent books and records demonstrating same
formation in an easily accessible manner and in substantially the same detail are acceptable. The books and records
~all be preserved for at least six years following the end of the taxable year to which they telate or, as to books and
cords relating to funds or property of clients or third persons, for at least six years after completion of the
nployment to which they relate.

(i) Every lawyer subject to paragraph (h) shall certify, in comtection with the annual renewal of the lawyer’s
gistralion and in such form as the Clerk of the Appellate Cour~ may prescribe, that the lawyer or the lawyer’s law
m maintains books and records as required by paragraph (h). The Lawyers Professional Responsibility Board shall
b]ish annually the books and records required by paragraph (h).

(j) Lawyer trust accounts, including IOLTA accounts, shall be maintained only in eligible financial institutions
proved by the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility. Every check, draft, electronic transfer, or other
thdrawal instrument or authorization shall be personally signed or, in the case of electronic, telephone, or wire .
nsfer, directed by one or more lawyers authorized by the law firm.

(k) A financial institution, to be approved as a depository for lawyer trust accounts, must file with the Office of
wyers Professional Responsibility an agreement, in a form provided by the Office, to report to the Office in the event
/ properly payable instrument is presented against a lawyer trust account containing insufficient funds, irrespective
whether the instrument is honored. The Lawyers Professional Responsibility Board shall establish rules governing
~roval and termination of approved status for financial institutions, and shall annually publish a list of approved
uncial institutions. No trust account shall be maintained in any financial institution that does not agree to make such
orts. Any such agreement shall apply to all branches of the financial institution and shall not be canceled except
)n three days notice in writing to the Office.

(]) The overdgaft notification agreement shall provide that all reports made by the financial institution shall be in
following format:

(1) in the case o/f~’~tishonored instrument, . the report shall be identical to the overdraft notice customarily
forwarded to the’depositor, and should include a copy of the dishonored instrument, if such a copy is normally
provided to depositors;

(2) ’ in the case of an instrument that is presented against insufficient funds but which instrument is honored,
the report shallidentify the financial institution, the lawyer or law finn, the account number, the date of
presentation for payment, and the date paid, as well as the amount of overdraft created thereby.
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Such reports shall be made simultaneously with, and within tile time provided by law for notice of
dishonor, if any. If an instrument presented against insufficient funds is honored, then the report shall be made
within (5) banking days of the date of presentation for payment against insufficient funds.

(n}) Every lawyer practicing or admitted to practice in this jurisdiction shaJl, as a condition thereof, be c0nclusively
eerned to have consented to the reporting and production requirements mandated by this Rule.

(n) Nothing herein shall preclude a financial institution from charging a particular lawyer or law firm for the
:asonable cost of producing the reports and records required by this rule.

(o) Definitions.

"Trust account" is an account denominated as such in which a lawyer or law firm holds lhnds on behalf of a
lent or third person(s) and is: ]) an interest-bearing checking account; 2) a money market account with or tied to
rock-writing; 3) a swedp account which is a money market fund or daily overnight financial institution repurchase
;reement invested solely in or fully collateralized by U.S. Government Securitics; or 4) an.open-end money market
nd solely invested in or fully collateralized by U.S. Government Securities. An open-end money market fund must
~ld itself out as a money market fund as defined by applicable federal statutes and regulations under the Investment
:t of 1940, and, at the time of the investment, have total assets of" at least $250,000,000. "U.S. Government
:curities" refers to U.S. Treasury obligations and obligations issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the
-fired States or any agency or instrumentality thereof. A daily overnight finandal institution repurchase agreement
~y be established only with an institution that is deemed to be "well capitalized" or "adequately capitalized" as
fined by applicable federal statutes and regulations.

"IOLTA account" is a pooled trust accoun.t in an eligible financial institutionthat has agreed to:

(1) remit the earnings accruing on this account, net of any allowable reasonable fees, monthly to the Lawyer
Trust:Account Board (LTAB) established by the Minnesota Supreme Court;

(2) transmit with each remittance a.report on a form approved by the LTAB that shall identify each lawyer or
law firm for whom the remitta~ice is sent, the amount of remittance attributable to each IOLTA account, the rate
and type of earnings applied, the amount of earnings accrued, the amount and type of fees deducted, if any, and
the average account balance for the period .in which the report is made; and

(3) transmit to fl~e depositing lawyer or law firm a report in accordance with normal procedure~ for reporting
to its depositors.                   ,

An approved eligible financial institution must pay no less on IOLTA accounts than (i) the highest earnings rate
~erally available from the institution to its non-IOLTA customers on each IOLTA account that meets the same
~imm-n balance or other eligibility qualifications, or, (ii) 80% of the Federal Funds Target Rate on all its IOLTA
:ounts. The rate to be paid shall be fixed on the first day of each month, qubject to rate. changes during the
nth reflected in normal month-end calculations. Accrued earnings and fees shall be calculated in accordance with
eligible financial institution’s standard practice, but institutions may elect to pay a higher earnings rate and may
:t to waive any fees on IOLTA accounts. A financial institution may choose to p~v’[he higher sweep or money
rket account rates on a qualifying IOLTA checking account. J

:’Allowable reasonable fees" for IOLTA accounts are per check charges, per deposit charges, sweep fees and similar
.rges assessed agai~~t:compm-b.ble accounts by the eligible financia! institution. All other fees are the responsibili~:y
and may be charged to, the lawyer maintaining the IOLTA account. Fees or dharges m excess of the earnings
rued on the account for any month or quarter shall not be taken from easnings accrued on other IOLTA accounts or
n the principal of the account. Eligible financial institutions may elect to waive any or all fees on IOLTA accounts.
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"z:’-~ligible :t]nanciaJ institution" ~o.r trust accounts is a ba~ or savings and loan association authorized by :[’¢dera] or
:tare law to d.o business in Minnesota, thedeposits of which are insured by aa agency of the iederaj govermnent, or is

open-end investment company registered with th.e Securities and Exchange Commission authorized by federal or

tare taw to do business in. Minnesota.

"Properly payabie" refers to an instrument which, if presented in the normal c.ourse of business, is in a form

equiring payment under the laws of this jurisdiction.

"Notice of dishonor" refers to the notice which an eligible financial institution is required "to give under the laws of
n.is _jurisdiction, upon presentation of an instrument that the institution dishonors.

Com~nent

[1] A l£wyer should hold property of others with the care required of a professional fiduciary. Securities should be kept in a
safe deposit box, except when some other form of safekeeping is warranted by special circumstances. All property that is the
property, of clients or third persons, including prospective c/fonts, must be kept sepal-ate from the ’lawyer’s business and
personal proper!y and, if monies, in one or more trust accounts. Separate t~ast accounts may be warranted when
administering estate monies or acting in simi/ar fiduciary’ capacities.

[2] While no~mlly it is impermissible to commingle the lawyer’s own funds with client fvnds, paragraph (a) (1) provides
that it is permissible when necessary to pay bank service charges on that account. Accurate records must be kept regarding
which part of the funds is the lawyer’s.

[3] Lawyers of’ten receive funds from which the lawyer’s fee will be. paid The lawyer is not required to remit to the client
funds that the lawyer reasonably believes represen~ fees owed However, a lawyer may not hold funds to coerce a client into
accepting the lawyer’s contention. The disputed portion of the funds must be kept in a trust account and the lawyer should
suggest memos fo[ prompt resolution of the dispute, such as arbitration. The undisputed portion of the funds shall be promptly
distrib{ated

[4] Paragraph (b) also recognizes that third parties may bare lawful claims against specific funds or other property in a
lawyer’s custody, such as a client’s creditor who has a lien on funds recovered in a personal injury action. A lawyer may have
a duty under applicable law to protect such t]fird-patvy claims against wrongful interference by the client. In such cases, when
the third-party claim is not frivolous under applicable law, the lawyer must refuse to surrender the property to the client until
the cla:ims are resolved. A lawyer should not unilaterally assume to arbitrate a dispute between the client and the third party,
but, when there are substantial grounds for dispute as to the person entitled to the funds, the lawyer may file an action to have
a court resolve the dispute.

[5] The obligations of a lawyer under this rule are independent of those arising from activity otlier than rendering legal
services. For example, a lawyer who serves only as an escrow agent is governed by the applicable law relating to fiduciaries
even though the lawyer does not render legal services m the transaction and is not governed by this rule.



OF. PROFESSIONAL COIN~DU£~r

persons of ~dva.nced age can be..qn]te cap~,ble
handling rou~ane fl.nancm.! rn.attar~ while_needing

The fadt t.b.st a d.lent ~vd’[er~ a d.iBabilit-y doeg not
diminish the lawy. er’s .obligatiOn to t~eat tYle client
with. a~tentJon and reapS. It:the person h~ no
gu~dian or 1%’~1 r~predentakive,..the.lawyer
rnuet act, a~ de facto guardj~..Eve,n if the
doe~ have ~ legal repr*~ent.atlye th4~lg-~o, er should
~ far ~ posstble accord the Tep.~s~/i~ed person ghe
st~tu~ or eUen¢, pa-tic~lar~ m mamtsdning mmmu-
nication

If a ]~gxl repre.sentativ.8 h~. already, been ap-
pointed for the client, the h~,-ycr ~houdd
look to the representative for deeisioos bn. behalf of
the eltent. I/" a leg~ repre~en~ti~e ha~. not been
appointed, the lawyer should ~ee to. such an ~ppom,t-
ment where it w~uJd serve th~ dien~’~ best intea’-
est& Thta, if , disabled el!¢nth~. ~ub~t~taa3
property ~at ~houdd be sold for the client’8 b~nefit,
effective eornpl~on of ’the trandac’t.lon ordinary

many eu’ru.mstance8, hmrever, ~ppomtment. o~f.a l~-
ga] repr~ment~t,i~ may be expon.qve or
for the d/ent, Ev~luat~on.ofthe~e eon~jden~tioas
a rnat’~ of pmf~lon~l judgment on .the

U the lawyer r~pr~sen~ the gu~di~ a~
from th~ ward, ~nd i~ awaze that the g’aardian

may hav~ an ’obl~ga~on to ’pro%cut "or .i:e~/ffy the
gaardl~n’s ml~conduct, $ed Ru]e 12(e).. ’, . ’

~’~.’dt rule t~ xLm~lar, Ln pan% to N’ovia~ge, ~’ fo~mcr EC q-ll of
Nan. Code of Prof. R~dpon.~ibitity.

Rule 1.18. Safekeeping Property"        .
(a) All funds of clients o£ third personal he]d.by

lawyer or law fmrn in connection ,~th a.representat~0n
sh.~ll be deposited in one br more identkfiable interest
be~nng tru~t acd~an~ as act f~rth in paragra}h.; (d)
Ou-ough (g). No funds belogging to’the lawyer br law
firm ~hall’ be deposited thereto .excep~ as

(1) fends, of Lhe lawyer or ’]aw 15ha reasonably
su~cient to pay service cha/ges m’ay >e .deposited

(2) funds belohging in part to a client or third
person and in p~z’c pre~ent/,y or p~enLially to
lawyer or law fuTn must be depo~kes!
(b) a lawyer must :dtkdraw earned feesand any

other funds belonging to ~he hwycr, or the law. firm
from the trust account within a reasonable time ~°ter
the feeshave been earned or entitlement to ~e funds
ha, been established and the lawSr~r must provide the
~ient or third person witt/: (9 written notieeof the
time, m-nount aM the purpdse o{ .}he: Mthdr~?vN; and
(ii) ~ azcountmg of the dienfs or third pe_mon’s Nnds
in the trust ue~dnnt If the righ~ of the.lawy.ea7 )r law
firm ti) receive f~mds from tke account is. di~pu.ted by
the client or third person claiming entitleanent;to

f’aads, hhe~spuCed porQon sh~11 not be withd~ax~
until ~e ~spu~ is fi~aUy resolved¯ If fl~e right of

have bee~.~th~a~, the dished po~ion mu~[
restored t.o the account until tee ~spute is resolvM. ~ ....

(c) A lawyer 8hMh

(~) ~omptly not~y a client or t~d person of the
recdpt of the client% or th>d p~son’s ~nds,
~es, or.ofl~w pmpe~es.

~) iden~ ~d ]abd ~e~fiee and proposes
a client or t~d p~son Womp~2 upon ~ceipt
~lace them in a sMe depodK box or ~er place
s~ekeeping as soon ~8

(8) mmntNn complete records ~ ~ Nude,
¢ies, and o~er proposes of a dient or ~d P~son
coming into the possession of the lauT~ and render
~pprop~ate accounks to the c~nt or tN~ person
~d~g

(4) pmmp~ pay or d~ver ~ the c~ent or thud...
p~son ~ requested the funds, secmJ~es, or
pmp~es in ~e possession of the ia~er which
eg~t or thM person ~ enfiNed ~ receive.

(d) E~h t~st ~eo~t ~Me~ed ~ in p~a~aph
shNl be ~ ~?~est bemng account in a b~.
b~k, ~st compa,ny, saints snd 1o~ associdtio~
sa~ sssoda~ion,, or fed.~y re,bred investment
compa~ setected by e la~7~’ ~ ~e ~ercise
oMin~ ~uden~.

(e) A l~wer.who recedes ~ent or ~d person
Nnds sh~ m£nt~n a poolea in,rest bemng trust
account %r depoeit of f~d8 that ~e nominal in
~o~t dr ~pe~ed to be held for a shorn: pe~od of
~me. ~e ~st ac~g on ~is account, net
~y ~’~saetion co8~, sh~ be p~d to the Lawyer

S~p~me

(D ~ client or th~ p~eon ~nd8 ,h~l be deposit-
ed in the acco~t spewed in p~a~aph (e)
thW ~e depoS~t~ ~ a:

(1) aep~ate in~est berg ~8t account for
p~icul~ ~h~d perso% elien~ or client’s matter on
which the ~terest, net of ~y ~an~tion cos~,
be p~d to Noclient or ~>d person; or

(2) pooled interest being {~t account with
subaecoun~g which ~ pro~de for computation o/
intm-est e~ned by ea~ e~ent’s or t~d p~sort’s
Nnd~ and ~e p~ent ~ereog net of ~y
~on co8~, to ego e~ent

(g) ~In dewing whether ~o use the account spec-
ified in .p~a~aph (e) or an account speci~ed i~
p~a~aph (0, a la~ shdl ~e into eomid~ation

the £o~o~g £~s:
.(1) ~e ~nt .of in~t which the funds

during l~he period they m’e expected to be
deposite-~;

10aS-t6g-159 QNVO@ S~]A~VI
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RULES OF PROFESSION.M, CONDUCT Rule

(2) the cost of establishing and Mrainisteving the
~ceount, including the cost.of ~e.law-y~-’s

(a) the cap~bi~y of .~and~ .me~tu~ons
s~bed ~ p~a~aph (d) to calculate ~d pay

shNl m~nt~n or cause to b~ mgn~ed on .a ~n’ent
basis, boom ~d records, ~ficient go d~onstrate
income de~ved from, ~d e~enses ~la~d [o, the
la~’8 pNvate prance of la~, and to e~b~sh
pg~ce Nth p~a~apM (a) ~’ough (0. The books
~d reedrde sg~ be preached for at leaae~hx ~ars
fotlo~ng th~ ~d df the ~able ye~ ~ ~eh
rdat~ or, as to books and ~5~ds.relaNng ~q N~ds or
pmpe~y of c~en~ or t~d p~sgns; fdr at l~ast
ye~ a~r complegon o5 ~he emplo~ent’to
~ey rda~. .... ", ,

e~&, m c~nec~on m~ ~he ~u~ ;e~4~ of the
la~eW~ re~uation ~d in such fore ~ ~e C?erk 0f
~e Appertain Co~t may p~s~be, that ~e la~er’or
~e la~’.~ law ~ m~Uins boo~ and records
requ~d ~y paa~aph (h). - ....

~) La~.# ~st ~eoun~ s~ be m.g~ed 0nly
in ~al ins~tufion~ app~ed bY the 0~
b~era Profe~onN Responsib~ey,      ’ ’ "

a~eement, ~ a fore prodded by the Office, W repo~
to ~e Offi~ Jn the event a~..p~perly payaSle ~ns~-

or not th~ ~s~men[ is hono)ed. ~$ L~ers ~o-
fession~ R~sponsib~ity Bo~d.~h~l es~blish ~les
g~ng appr~ and ~agon of ~ppr~ed
tu~ for fin~dN m~titu~o~, ~d shMl .~nuMly pub~g
~ ~at of appr~ed ~n~ i~titu{io~. No
~ount ~hall be m~ta~ ~ ~Z fm~dM ins~tu~on
which does not ~ee to make 8uehrepo~. ~y
a~eement 8h~ apply ~ ~ br~eh~ of ~e financial
ms~mtio~ ~nd shN1 no~ be cancded ~eept upon
day~ noses in ~ng w the 0~ce.

(l) ~e ~Sr~ hot, eaton augment shgl pro-
~de ~at ~1 repo~ m~e by ~� financid institution

(1)/In the ~caae of a dishonored m,~ment, ~e
~po~ shall be ideation tb ~e Vv~aR
~mm~ foxed to ~e d~osi~, and
include ~ copy o~he dishonored in~meng ff
a copy is no@y pr~d~

(2) In ~a~e or i~men~ ~hat ~.e pres~ted
agent incident ~d8 bu~ whi~ i~~ ~
honored, the mpm ahMl identi~ ~e ~
ta~on, the la~er or law ~, the ~c~t
the date of. presentation %r pa~ent,nd.~e, da~e

thereby.                             , .
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~c dU6g~0 oN~I0~-K6g-1~9

Such reports, shall be made eamul~neonsty..wi~,
and within the time prided by law lotnooks of
d~honor, ff ~y. If ~n inacmmen~ preaen{ed
insn~cienv %ads is honored, ~hen ~he-repd~~h~ be
made ~b~ (8) bunChdays of thedate 0f ~’reaenta-
tion for pa~en.tag~nst i~u.~cient fun~g;. ~

(m) gv~ ~ pr~tidng or *d~t~d ~ p[ac~ce
in th~ juNsdi~on, ah,Jl, aa a tone,on ~ereo( be
conclusive]2 deemed to have consented {o ~e repoS-
ing ~d production requ~’ements m~d~ted by

(a) NotNng herdn ~hMl preclude ~ ~fiei<
~on from ~ung a p~ic~ar la~ orlaw ~
~e re~o~aSle cost of produmpg.j~e ~P9~ ~d

(o) Defim~ons
"~in~da] In~tu~£n"’melude; b~ks~,~{~ng~ ~d

ne~ 0~ peson wNch acce~s fo~ 8epd~it fu~dg held

"Proper~ payab~g’,re/m~ ~ ~ ms--vat wbAch,

"Notice ofdishonof’--~fers ~ the notice wIfich
~eiN ~skitution is requked to ~ve, ~ndm" the laws
of this j~s~c~on, upon preseetation of an
which the ~netitu~en ~sgo~ors.
Adopt~ June 1S, 1986, e/f...~pt. 1~1985. ~’ndg~ Dee.
1989, ~f a~ 1, 1990; ,Ju~ 28, 199g Mr. Aug. 1,

C£mmen~lg86        ¯ ’.

A la~/er shoed hold pro~y of o~ers ~ ~
c~ req~red of ~ ~’ofes~ioDM fiduc~.
should be kept m a she de~it b6x, exe~
Borne o~e~ fo~ of ~eep~-.i~ w~tgd by

pm~ ~f c~en~ or ~kd p~e~ ~hp~d be kept

eonn~. ’ Sep~ate ~st ~eo~ts mW be.w~anted

jar fidu~ capacities.                     "

fromwbic.h the la~ef~ fee ~ be p~d, .]I ~e io
rink ~at the ~nt may ~v~ ~e ~nds

. pang t~e fee; the ]a~er io net mqu~ ~o remit
~e ~on from ~hieh ~e %e is 19 be p~d..
~er, a la~er may not ho~d lund~ W co~ce a client
into ~cep~ ~, la~er’s ¢~on ,:The ~
ed p~n of ~e Nn& nh~d be keptin ’~¢ ~d
~e la~er should sagest m~an~ for
~on oIthe d£pu~, ~uch ~ ~bitm~on...The
put~ potion of ~o funds sh~ be pm~p~y dis~b-
uteri.

aad~ gpp~e~bld ~w to ~m~ct sa~ ~d-pmj
d~s ag~8~ v¢o~] .~t~ence by ~e client,
and ~rdi~ly may r~Nse ~ smTender the WoK

~as



Rule 1.15 RU,~_~.8..OF PROFESSIONAL CO~DUC.’I’

" other counsel, surrend.ermg papm-~ and p4-operty to~
.wkieh th4 client is en.fi’ded and refunding a@::~sdva.nce

Adop~d June 1~, 198~,.edf. Sept..I,

e~ty t~ the dien( Hoyve~’er, a lawTer should not
uniJa~,erakly ~urne to arbiteate a..~i~p~te

tae~e~d~e~d~, : ...: :. .
~e ob~a~ons of. a ~Wer under ~is R~e ~e

..Jndepe~gent of tho~ .~ f~m.~ty[
fh~ rende~g ]ega].se~ces For ~’ple, a hw. "

th~ ~pp~c~bl~ law rqla~g Lo .fiducJ~es ~n

’

no~ ~epresemt ~ Mient OL ~he~e rep~ese~adon has
~0mmen6ed, sh~ ~th@a~ from ~e ~pr~ssnm~iQn.-of

. (1) ~he .~presentation ~ reset, in ~bl~on of

,(2) the la~s p~[c~ ~ men~: condition ma-
tmfiMly impa~ ~he la~wer’s ~bilky

(8) ~ela~is ~sch~ged~ or :

~e la~7~s 8~ce~ ~at:{h’e ]a~
. bdiwes is ~infl or ~dulent.          .

~) Gx, ept ~ ~ted m p~a~@h (c), aia,~ may
~4~aw ~ r~preaenfi~ a ehent g:

(1) ~e client h~ used the ta~’s ~dce~ to

(a) a client ~sis~ upon p~U’i6g ~ obje~ve
that @e la~er consid~s repaint or..~p~d~t;

(3) the e~ent f~ls subst.anti~ly to
gafion ~ the ]a~er ~g~dmg ~e la~efS ~ces
~d Ms been Wen ~@onable W~ing that
]a~er ~ m~draw unless ~e.obligation is f~-
filled;                           .

(4) ~e zepr~en~Non M~ been Jendered
8onably ~fficultby the e~mt; or

(6) o~ good cause for ~har~w~l

(c) If pg~ission for ~th&awM:from
is r~q~r~ by *he’~es of a Nn%~n~;’:
not ~&aw ~m bmpl6~entin ,pF6cee~g ~efore
that m~M ~oht i~ pe~is~on,

(d) Upon temi~tion o~ representation, a.la~
8hMl ~e steps ~ ~e e~nt ~asonab~ practicable to
pr~ect a ~ent% interests, suet a~ D~g reasonable
notice to ~e dlen~ fllm~ng.time for emplo~ent
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Commen~--1988.

A lawyer sho~Jd not. ~ccept rep.r’~en~tJon L~ a
maever unless it c~ be peffo~ed c~p~y, " ......
p~ptly, ~thout ~prop~ co~c� of int~st and
W

Man~to~ Wi~awal

A la~ ordin~y must dec~e ~ ~Sth&aw
~m representation 3 ~e dent demands ~at ~e
la~j~ angage m conduct ~at a ~egal or
~e R~es ~ ProfeooionM Condu6 ~ o~er
The h~er i8 ~ot oN~d ~ decl~e.or ~th~aw
s~pl~ becsu8e ~e e~mt aug~am ~ueh a e~ or
condor; a c~ent may m~e suet ~ ~geation > the
hope @~t a lawyer ~ not b~ mns.D~ed by a
~ofe~io~ obEgstJon ’

~en a l~er h~ b~ appom~d ~ receipt ~
~en4 mth~a~ ordi~ re~u~ app~. of
~e appok6ng auto,y. See ~o Rule 8,2.

_.eulty may be encount~d g~df~aw~~ b~ed on -
@e client’s dem~d ~a~ ~e N~ enga~ in ~-
pMe88ional mnducL The ~m ~y~h an expla-
~s~oa for ~e ~a~ while ~e ~ m<v be
bo~d ~ keep eo~d~ the fa~ ~a* ~uld

ment t~ pmfea~ion~ eon~deraHon~ req~
na~on o~ ~ repmoen~on 0r~ ehouId be
~ccepted ~ s~ent.

Disch~ge

A ~ent h~ a fight. ~ dtseh~ a ~ at ~W
~e, ~ br ~thout cause, sub~t W gab~ for
pa~ent lot ~e h~r’s ~e~ces ~
¯ s~te about ~e ~4~iwd may: b6 ~fidpated, it
nmy be M~sab]e to We~ a ~n ~ent
~g ~e ~ums~ces.

~et~er a client can d~ge appo~ted counsel
may de~d on appli~blo law. A cgent sosN~ ~
do ~o sh~d be Wen a ~t ~l~na6on of ~e
coaae~uen¢~. ~e~e co~equencee ~y inclu~ a
dedaivn by ~e ap~t~g aa~.ofity that ~ppoint-
m~t of ~uc~or c~a~ ~ uNu~od, ~as re-
q~g ~e c~ent w rep~e~t ~.

U the c~ent ~ mentdy ~¢omp~nt, ~e c~ent.
may ~ck ~e legal eap~y to ~ch~ ~e I~
and m any ~t the d~ge ~y be
adver~ D ~e ~ent’~ inrush. The h~r ~ou]d
m~e ~dM ~o~ ~ hdp ~e ~t conoider the
mn~Naenc~ rod, in m ~e c~e, m~y
proeao~ for a con~ema~a~p or ~1~ ~t~-
fion of~o cli~t. See Rule 1.14.

OptionM

k l~er ~ay ~th~aw ~e~ re~oen~on ~

~ ~at would m~ pr~u~ce the ~ent. The
h~er a~o ~ ~w wh~e ~e ~ent
on a ~pu~n~ o[ imp~dea~ objee~ve.

A la~er m~ ~th~w g ~e ~n~ re~e~ ~
abide by ~e t~ of ~ a~m~t ~]a~g w the ::

fee~ o) ~art ~a~ or an aueement l~m~g ~� °~":;::~:~:~
obje~ivea of

~9



OPINION NO. 9
MAINTENANCE OF BOOES AND RECORDS

Repealed. January 26 2006
[now Apyendzx I to 2005 M~.C]

very attorney engaged ira the private practice of law must maintain the books and records described inthis Opinion to
~mply with the applicable provisions of the Mirmesota Rules of Professional Conduct (MRPC) relating to funds and
~operty received and disbursed on behalf of clients or otherwise held in a fiduciary, capacity. Equivalent books and
:cords demonstrating tlne same information in an easily accessible manner and in substantially the same detail are
:ceptabte. Books and records may be prepared manually or by comp~qten

Trust Account Records. The following books and records must be maintained for funds and property
.received and disbursed in a fiduciary capacity, whether for clients or for others: .

An identi~qcation of all trust accounts maintained, including the name of the bar& or other depositor7,
account number, account name, date account opened, and an agreement with bank establishing each
account and its interest bearing nature. A record should also be maintained showing clearly the type of
each such account whether pooled, with net interest paid to the Lawyers Trust Account Board (IOLTA
account), pooled with allocation of interest, or individual, including the client name.- See Rules I. ] 5(e_),
(0(1), and (0(,2), MtLPC,.

A check register for each trust account that chronologically shows all deposits and checks.

Each deposit entry must include the date of the deposit, the amount, the identity of the client(s)
for Mlom the funds were deposited, and the purpose of the deposit.

Each check ent~7 must include the date the check was issued, the payee, the amount, the identity
of the client for whom the check was issued (if not the payee), and the purpose of the check.

Subsidiary ledgers for each client matter for whom the attorney receives trust funds.

a. For every trust account transaction, al~orneys must record on the appropriate client subsidiary
ledger the date of receipt or disbursement, the amount, the payee and check nmnber (for
disbursements), the purpose of the transaction, and the balance of funds remaining in the account
on behalf of that client matter. An attorney shall not disburse funds from the trust account that
would create a negative balance on behalf of an individual client matter.

b. A separate subsidiary ledger for nominal funds of the attorney held in the trust account pursnant
to Rule 1.15(a)(1), MILPC, to accommodate reasonably expected bank fees and charges. This
ledger should also record any monthly service charges not offset or waived by the bank in the
same month. A separate ledger should be maintained to record interest accrued but not

/transferred by the bank to the Lawyers Trust Account Board in the same month it is credited.

c. An attome,y maintaining non-IOLTA accounts pursuant to Rule 1.15(f), MRPC, shall record on
each clie/n~ snbsidiary ledger the monthly accrual of interest, and the date and amount of each
intere_s, fdisbursement, including disbursements from accrued, interest for costs of establishing
and. administering the account.

A monthly: trial balance of the subsidiary~led-g.~:~!i’.~-~.~:fyi~?geach client matter; the balance of fund.s.
held on behalf of the client matter at the end of each month, and the total of all the client balances. No
balance for a client matter may be negative at any time.

//www. mncourts, gov/lprb/op9repealed.html 8/2~2008



A monthly reconciliation of the checkbook balance, the subsidiary ledger trial balance total, and the
adjusted bmtk statement balance. The actjusted barfl( statement balance is determined from the month-
end bank statement balance by adding outstanding deposits and subtracting outstanding checks.

Sample trial balances and reconciliations are available from the Office of Lawyers Professional
Responsibility.

Bank statements, canceled checks or copies of canceled checks if they are provided with the bank
statements, and duplicate deposit slips. Cash fee payments must be documented by copies of receipts
countersigned by the payor. All disbursements must be by check, except when payment by check would
be economically imprudent or when exigent circumstances require a transaction by wire transfer. For
withdrawal by wire transfeL an attorney or law firm must create a written memorandum authorizing the
transaction, signed by the attorney responsible for the transaction. The wire transfer must be entered in
the check register and include all the identi:~ing information listed in paragraphs I(2)@) and I(3)(a) of

this Opinion.

Electronic Record Retention. An altomey who maintains trust account records bycomputer must print
and retain, on a monthly basis; the checkbook register, the trial balance oft he subsidiary ledgers, and the
reconciliation report. The checkbook register must contain all of tl-/e information identified in paragraph
2. Electronic records should be regularly backed up by an appropriate storage device. The frequency of
the back up procedure should be directly related to the volume of activity in the trust account.

A record showing all property, specifically identiSed, other than cash, held in trust from time to time for
~;lients or others, provided that routine files, documents and items such as real estate abstracts which are
not expected to be held indefinitely need not be so recorded but should be documented in the files of the
lawyer as to receipt and delivery.

Business Account Records. An attorney or law firm must maintain at least one bank account, other than the
trust account, tbr/ands and property received and disbursed outside the attorney’s fiduciary capacity. The
following books and records should be maintained for such accounts:

A record in the form ofa f~es book or file of copies of billing invoices reflecting all fees charged and
other billing to clients.

2. Copies of receipts, countersigned by th~ payor, for all cash fee payments.

Check registers, bank statements, canceled checks, and duplicate deposit slips sufficient to establish the
receipt of earned fee payments from clients, costs advanced on behalf of clients, and similar receipts and
disbursements.

,pted:
ended:

eoled,

A periodic reconciliation of the checkbook balance and the ba~ statement balance.

September 18, 1998, August 1, 1999, January 27, 2005.

~ranuar), 26, 200(;.

September 10, 1976.
June 22, 1977, June 23, 1983, December 4, 1987, September 15, 1989,

"~:" ::: .... 1998 Committee Comments
"v:~;~;:":~;.::~i~,~~’¢~r~Zi~::"":., ¯ : ¯ ...... .: ::.-.-    :. ¯ ,!~ : . ...~.~-:~.~.,,,,it " .:. ,1 ::: ,i ’ :- - -: ’." . : ~ .:z

~e 9 years since the Lawyers Professional Responsibility Board last revised this Opinion, there have been
[ficant changes in the ways attorneys may maintain their trust account books and records, most notably the rise of

//wvcw.mncourts. gov/lprb/op9repealedhtml 8/21a1~2008
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i)el-sona] computer and bookkeepjnz software as essen[ia] o/t]ce equipment. Moreover, the DirectoFs Offlee has
cviewed hundreds ofla;~ers’ trust accounts since ]990 t]~ou~h the administration of the overdraft notJl~catJon.
,rogram. This experience has given the Director insight into the most common record-keeping pitfalls and coni~rmed

types of records ~]~at lawyers must maintain to satia~; their ethical obligations to protect client i~mds.

’he revised Opinion eliminates the requirement of s§parate cash receipts and disbursements journals, in favor ofa n~ore
etailed chronological check register that records alJ trust account transactions, including the identity of the client and

purpose of the transaction. This simpliiqes manual record-keeping and comports with most software packages that
low input of all relevant information into one computer screen.

cuticle monthly printing of hard copies of electronic records is ~equired to allow reconstruction of trust account
cords in the event of a hardware failure. Attorneys should implement electronic backup procedures depending on the
>lume of activity in the trust account. For moderate 1o high volume trust accounts, weekly or even daily backups to
~ppy disks or mirrored network servers may be appropriate.

ire tra~-~sfers may be used for large denomination transactions provided that the lawyer or law firm creates the proper
¯ it:ten authorization. The Board does not recommend that attorneys use wire transfers for transactions under $ l 0,000;
ecks signed by an attorney remain the primary means of properly disbursing funds from a trust account.

:laIed authorities and other resoUrces: Pursuant to Rule 1.15(i), Minnesota Rules of Professional Conduct (Oct.
35), is now _A.p__pendix I to 2005 Minnesota Rules of Professional Conduct. Brochures entitled: Instructions for
i_nG_Quicken 5.0 with Windows 95 or Windows 3.1 for Maintaining~ Balancing and Reconciling Minnesota Law:/~
Ist Acc.ountst and OtJ~er People ’~" Mone3:’ available from the Of~qce of Lawyers Professional Responsibility; ]n re
oca., 451 N.W.2d 209 (Mi~m. 1990).

/~vww. mn co u r ts. go~/lprb/op9repealed.html 8/2~t 2_008



LA’~-ERS PROFESSIONAL RESPONS~BIL_~TY BOARD
1500 LANOMARK TOWERS

2,45 ST PETER STREET

ST, PAUL, MINNESOTA 55102-1218

TELEPHONE (651) 296-3952
TOLL-FREE 1-800-657-3601

FAX (651) 297-5801

APPENDIX 1 TO THE MINNESOTA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

MAINTENANCE OF BOOKS AND RECORDS

Adopted September 30, 2005
Amended June 26, 2008

rsuant to Rule 1.1.5(i), Minnesota Rules of Professional Conduct (MRPC), the Lawyers Professional

~ponsibility Board adopted the following as the books and records required by Rule 1.15(]~), MRPC:

,~ry attorney engaged in the private practice of la.~v must maintain the books and records described in this

penclix to comply with. the applicable provisions of the MRPC relating to funds and property received
disbursed on behalf o~ clients or otherwise held in a fiduciary capacity. Equivalent books and records

nonstrating the same information in an easily accessible manner and in substantially the same detail are
_~p~able. B~oks and records may be prepared manually or by computer.

Trust Account Records. The following books and records must be maintained for funds and
property received and disbursed in a fiduciary capacity, whether for clients or for others:

An identification of all trust accounts maintained, including the name of the bank or other

depository, account number, account name, date account opened, and an agreement with the
bank establishing each acSount and its interest bearing nature. A record should also be

maintained showing clearly the type of each such account whether pooled, with nee interest
paid to the Lawyers Trust Account Board (IOLTA account), pooled with allocation of interest,
or individual, including the client name. See Rules 1.15(e), (0(1); and (0(2), MRPC.

2. A check register for each trust account that chrono]ogically shows all deposits and checks.

a. Each deposit entry must irtclude tl~e date of the deposit, the amount, the identity of the

client(s) for whom the funds were deposited, and the purpose of the deposit.

b. Each.check entry m~.~st include the date the check was issued, the payee, the amount,

the identity of the client for whom the check was issued (if no/t’{he payee), and the.
purpose of the check. J

::."Subsidiary ledgers for each c]ient matter for whom the attorney receives trust funds.

a. For ev.ery trust account transaction, attorneys must record on the appropriate client
subsidiary ledger the date of receipt or disbursement, the amount, the payee and check

www. mncourts, gov/lprb/rules app 1 .html 8/2~200 g



5.

number (for disbursements), the purpose of the t~ansactio]~, and the balance of funds

remaining m the account on behalf of that client matter. An attorney shall not disburse

funds from the trust account tha~ would create a negative balance on be]~alf of an

individual client matter.

A separate subsidiary ledger for nominal fun@s of the attorney held in the trust account

pursuant to Rule 1.15(a)(]), MRPC, to accommodate reasonably expected bank fees and

charges. This ledger should also record any monthly service charges not offset or

waived by the bank in the same month. A separate ]edger should be maintained to

record interest accrued but not transferred by the bank to the Lawyers Trust Account

Board in the same month it is credited.

An attorney main[aining non-IOLTA accounts pursuant to Rule 1.]5(f), MREC, shall

record on each client subsid.iary ledger the monthly accrual of interest, and the date and

amount of each interest disbursement, including disbursements from accrued interest

for costs of establishing and administering the account.

A monthly trial balance of the subsidiary ledgers identifying each client matter, the balance of

funds held on behalf of the client matter at the end of each month, and the to[el of all the client

balances. No balance for a client matter may be negative at anytime.

A monthly reconciliation of the checkbook balance, the subsidiary ledger trial balance total,
and fl~e adjusted bank statement balance. The adjusted bank statement balance is-determined

from the month-end bank statement balance by addin~ outstanding deposits and subtracting

outstanding checks.

[Sample trial balances and reconciliations are available from the Office of Lawyers Professional

Responsibility]. ’

Bank statements, canceled checks or copies of canceled checks if they are provided with the

bank statements, bank wire or electronic fund transfer confirmations and. duplicate deposit

slips. Cash fee payments must be documented by copies of receipts countersigned by the

payor. Attorneys making deposits using substitute checks pursuant to the Check Clearing for

the 21st Century Act must request and re{ain image statements from the bank for each such

deposit. For wi[hdrawal by bank wire or electronic fund transfer, an attorney or law firm

must crqate a written memorandum authorizing the transaction, signed by the attorney
responsible for the transaction. The bank wire or electronic fund t~ansfer must be entered in

the check register and include all the identifying information listed in paragraphs ](2)(b) and
(3)(-a) of trois A~pendix.

Electronic Record Retention. An attorney who maintains trust account records by computer

must print and re[ain, on a monthly basis, the checkbook register, the trial balance of the

subsidiary ledgers, and the reconciliation report. The checkbook register must contain all of

the information identified in paragraph 2. Electronic records should be regularly backed uE
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by an approp~-iate storage device. The frequenc); of the back-up procedure should be directiy related

to the volume of activity m the trust account.

8. A record showing all p[operty, specifically identified, other than cash, held in trust from time-

to-brae for clients or others, provided that routine files, documents and items, such as real

estate abstracts, which are not expected to be held indefinitely,, need not be so recorded but

should be documented in the files of d~e lawyer as to receipt and delivery.

Business Account Records. An attorney or law firm must maintain at least one bank account, other

than the trust a.ccotmt, for funds and property, received and disbursed outside the attorney’s

fiduciary capacity. The following books and records should be maintained for such accounts:

A record in the form of a fees book or file of copies of billing invoices reflecting all fees

charged and other billings to clients.

Copies of receipts, countersigned by the payor, for all. cash fee payments.

Check registers, bank statements, c~nceled checks, and duplicate deposit slips sufficient to

establish the receipt of earned fee payments from clients, costs advanced on behalf of clients,

and similar receipts and disbursements.

A periodic reconciliation of the checkbook balance and the bank statement balance.
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~ULE 8A: MISCONDUCT

is professional misconduct %r a lawyer to:

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Profe.ssional Conduct, lcn~owing]y assist or induce another to do so, or do
) tlwough the acts ofanot]~er;

(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer’s honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in
:her respects;

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, flaud deceit, or misrepresentation;

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice;

(e) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a govenmnent agency or official or to achieve results by means
at violate the Rules of Professional Conduct.or other law;

(0 knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of applicable rules of judicial conduct or
her law;

(g) harass a person on the basis of sex, race, age, creed, religion, color, national origin, disability, sexual or.ientatio~..
marital status in connection with a lawyer’s professional activities;

(h) commit a discriminatory act prohibited by federal, state, or local statute or ordinance that reflects adversely on
¯ ’. lawyer’s fitness as a lawyer. Whether a discriminatory act reflects adversely on a lawyer’s fitness as a lawyer shall
detei-mined after consideration of all the circumstances, including:

(1) the seriousness of the act,

(2) wt~ether fine lawyer ~ew that the act was prohibited by st.a~ute of ordinance,

(3) whether the act was.part of a pattern of prohibited conduct, and

(4) whether the act Was committed in connection with the lawyer’s professional activities; or

(i) refuse to honor a fhml and binding fee arbitration award after agreeing to arbitrate a fee dispute.

Colll m ent

[1 ] Lawyers are subject.to discipline when they violate or attempt to violate the Ruies of.Professional Conduct, knowingly
assist or induce another to do so or do so through the acts of another, as when they request or instruct an agent to do so on the
lawyer’s behalf Paragraph (a), however, does not prohibit a lawyer from advising a client concerning action the client is
legally entitled to take.

[2] Many kinds of illegal conduct reflect adve~sdy on fitness to practice law, such as offenses involving fraud and the offense
of willful faihne to file an income.tax return. Although a lawyer is personally answerable to the entire criminal law, a lawyer
hould be professmnally answ/ceable ouly for offenses that indicate lack of those characteristics relevant to the practice of

law. Offenses invoNing viol~ce, dishonesty or breach ofm~st, or serious interference with the administ~ation of justice are
m that category. A patt%rn of repeated offenses, even ones of minor significance when considered separately, can indicate
!~difference. to legal obligation.                                                                   .:

[3~ Lawyers i~olding public office assume legfii responsibilkies going beyond those of other citizens. A lawyer’s abuse of
public’office can suggest an inability to fl~lfill the professional role of attorney The same is true of abuse of positions of
private trust such as trustee, executor, administrator, gtmrdian, agent and officer, director or manager of a corporation or other
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organization.

[4] Paragraph (g) spec.it]es a particularly egregious type ot~ disc~iminatory act-harassment oil tile basis of sex, race, age,
religion, color, national origin, disability, sexual orie~tation, o~ marital status. ~at constitutes harassment in this context
may be determined with reference to antidiscrimination legislation ancl case law thereunder. This harassment ordinarily
involves the active burdening of another, rather than mere passive failure to act properly:

[5~ Harassment on the basis of sex, race, age, creed, religion, col(~r, national origin, disabili~, sexton] orieatation~ or marital
status may violate eithe~ paragraph (g) or paragraph (h). The harassment violates paragraph (g) if the lawyer committed it in
connect/on with the lawyer’s professional acC.ivities t~arassment, even if not committed in connection with the lawyer’s
professional activities, violates paragraph (h) if the harassment (1) is prohib.ited by antidiscrimination legislation and (2)
reflects adversely on the lawyer’s fitness as a lawyer, determined as specified in paragraph (h).

[6] Paragraph (h) reflects the premise that the concept of human equality lies at tile very heart of our legal system. A lawyer
whose belnavior demonstrates hostility toward or indifferel~ce to the policy of equal .justice under the law may thereby
manifest a lack of character required of members of the legal profession Therefore, a lawyer’s discriminatory act prohibited
by statute or ordiaa~ce may reflect actve~sely on his or her t~mess as a lawyer even if the unlawful discriminatory act was no/
commitS:e3 in connection with the lawyer’s professional activities.

[7] \Vhether an unlawful discriminato~7 act reflects adversely on fitness as a lawyer is determined after considera,tion of all
relevant circumstances, including the four factors listed in paragraph (h). It is not required that the listed factors be
considered equally, nor is the list intended to be exclusive For example, i~t would also be relevant that the lawyer reasonably
believed that his or her conduct was protected under the state or federal constitution or that the lawyer was acting in a
capacity for which the law provides an exemption from civil liability, gee. eg, Minn. Stat. Section 3t7A.257 (anpaid
director or officer of nonprofit organization at, ring in good faith and no~. wil]ful]y or recklessly).

[8] A lawyer may refuse to comply with an obligation imposed by law upon a good faith belief that no valid obligation exists.
The provisio~s of Rt~le 12(d) concerning a good faith ~;hallenge to the validity, scope, meaning or applicatio~ of tJ~e law
apply to ~hallenges of legal regulation of the practice of law
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STATE OF MINNESOTA

IN SUPREME COURT

A07-2418

In re Petition for Disciplinary Action against
David Max Van Sickle, a Minnesota Attorney,
Registration No. 292783.

ORDER

The Director of the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility has filed a

petition alleging that respondent David Max Van Sickle committed professional

misconduct warranting public discipline, namely, that respondent filed lawsuits on behalf

of a client that, as found by the courts, lacked a good faith basis in law or fact, in

violation of Rules 1.1, 3.1, and 8.4(d), Minnesota Rules of Professional Conduct

(MRPC); failed to timely disburse to a client settlement funds that undisputedly belonged

to the client, in violation of Rule 1.15(b), MR_PC, as that rule read prior to October 1,

2005; commingled client and personal funds in his trust account, negligently

misappropriated funds entrusted to him on behalf of a client, failed to keep required trust

account books and records, repeatedly issued checks drawn on the trust account when.

there were insufficient funds in the account, improperly transferred funds from his trust

account by electronic transfer and automated teller machines ,(/A~’Ms), and improperly

certified to this court that he maintained the required trust a-~count books and records, in

violation of Rules 1.15(a), (b),-(c), and (h), as interpreted by Lawyers Professional
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Responsibility Board Opinion 9 and Appendix 1 to the MRPC, and Rule 8.4(c), MRPC;

and, as evidenced by the order suspending his California license to practice law, charged

and collected an unconscionable fee, entered into an improper business transaction, failed

to provide written disclosure of a financial interest in the subject matter of the

representation, and intentionally or recklessly failed to represent a client competently, in

violation of Rules 1.1, 1.5, and 1.8(a), MRPC,

Respondentadmits his conduct violated the Rules of Professional Conduct, waiveS

his procedural rights under Rule 14, Rules on Lawyers Professional Responsibility

(̄RLPR), and has entered into a stipulation with the Director under which they jointly

recommend that the appropriate discipline is a four-month suspension pursuant to

Rule 15, RLPR; that the reinstatement hearing provided for in Rule 18, RLPR, not be

waived; that respondent may petition for reinstatement at any time after 60 days from the

effective date of his suspension; and that reinstatement be conditioned upon: (1) payment

of costs in the amount of $900 pursuant to Rule 24(d), RLPR; (2) compliance with

Rule 26, RLPR; (3) pursuant to Rule 18(e), RLPR, providing proof of successful

completion of the professional responsibility examination within one year prior to the

petition for reinstatement; (4) satisfaction of continuing legal education requirements

under P~ule 18(e), RLPR; and (5) paying or entering into an agreement for a payment plan

to pay the attorney fees assessed against him by the federal district court in the matter of

Willhite v...ColIins, No. 04-CV-4380 (D. Minn. 2005).

The court has independently reviewed the file and generally approves the jointly

recommended disposition.
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Based on all the files, records, and proceedings herein,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that respondent David Max Van Sickle is suspended

from the practice of law for a minimum of four months, effective 14 days from the date

of filing of this order. Respondent shall pay $900 in costs pursuant to Rule 24, RLPR,

and shall comply with Rule 26, RLPR (requiring notice of suspension to clients, opposing

counsel, and tribunals). Respondent may petition for reinstatement after 60 days from the

effective date of his Suspension, provided that he files with the petition for reinstatement

proof of: (1) successful completion of the professional responsibility portion of the state

bar examination within one year prior to the date of the petition for reinstatement;

(2) satisfaction of continuing legal education requirements pursuant to Rule 18(e), RLPR;

and (3) proof of payment of the attorney fees assessed against respondent by the federal

district court in the matter of Willhite v. Collins, No. 04-CV-4380 (D. Minn. 2005), or

proof that respondent has entered into and is in compliance with a payment plan for

payment of such attorney fees.

Dated: January 17, 2008

State of Minnesota, Appellate Cour~
I hereby Certify that the foregoing Instru-
ment is a true and correct copy of the
original as the saj~e,~pears on recot~l In
my officeIhis~- ~,r/-t dau of / ~///~t/~,~/1/

5~’gt. [~e~cre~k - -

BY THE COURT:



DAVID MI VAN SICKLE
Case number(s):
08-J-10456; 09-O-11418

SIGNATURE OF THE PARTIES

By their signatures below, the parties and their counsel, as applicable, signify their agreement with
each of the recitations and each of the terms and conditions of this Stipulation Re Facts and
Conclusions of Law.

Respondent enters into this stipulation as a condition of his/her participation in the Program.
Respondent understands that he/she must abide by all terms and conditions of Respondent’s
Program Contract.

If the Respondent is not accepted into the Program or does not sign the Program contract, this
Stipulation will be rejected and will not be binding on Respondent or the State Bar.

If the Respondent is accepted into the Program, this Stipulation will be filed and will become
public. Upon Respondent’s successful completion of or termination from the Program, the
specified level of discipline for successful completion of or termination from the Program as set
forth in the State Bar Court’s.Confidential Statement of Alternative Dispositions and Orders shall
be imposed or recommended to the Supreme Court.

Date/

Date

Date Deputy Tri~

DAVID M. VAN SICKLE
print Name

Print Name

CHARLES A. MURRAY
Print Name

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 9/18/02. Revised 12/1/2008.) Signature page (Prograrr



DAVID M. VAN SICKLE
Case Number(s):
08-J-10456; 09-O-11418

ORDER

Finding the stipulation to be fair to the parties and that it adequately protects the public,
IT IS ORDERED that the requested dismissal of counts/charges, if any, is GRANTED without
prejudice, and:

[~"~e stipulation as to facts and conclusions of law is APPROVED.

r-] The stipulation as to facts and conclusions of law is APPROVED AS MODIFIED as set
forth below.

r--i All court dates in the Hearing Department are vacated.

The parties are bound by the stipulation as approved unless: 1) a motion to withdraw or modify the
stipulation, filed within 15 days after service of this order, is granted; or 2) this court modifies or
further modifies the approved stipulation; or 3) Respondent is not accepted for participation
in the Program or does not sign the Program Contract. (See rule 135(b) and 802(a), Rules of
Procedure.)

Date Judge of the State Bar Court

(Stipulation form approved by SBC Executive Committee 10/16/2008. Revised 12/1/2008.)

Page ~
Program Order



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[Rule 62(b), Rules Proc.; Code Civ. Proc., § 1013a(4)]

I am a Case Administrator of the State Bar Court of California. I am over the age of eighteen
and not a party to the within proceeding. Pursuant to standard court practice, in the City and
County of Los Angeles, on April 8, 2010, I deposited a true copy of the following document(s):

STIPULATION RE FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

in a sealed envelope for collection and mailing on that date as follows:

by first-class mail, with postage thereon fully prepaid, through the United States Postal
Service at Los Angeles, California, addressed as follows:

DAVID M. VAN SICKLE
DAVID VAN SICKLE, ATTORNEY
11616 HAWTHORNE BLVD STE 200
HAWTHORNE, CA 90250

[] by interoffice mail through a facility regularly maintained by the State Bar of California
addressed as follows:

CHARLES MURRAY, Enforcement, Los A~’~’~i~ ~ ~

I hereby certify that the foregoing is true and correct. Exec~~fornjd, on
April 8, 2010.           ~’~"-’---    ~

Johnnie Le’e ~,ff~itff( ~
Case Administrator {
State Bar Court


